The study of the mechanism of progressive renal injury in chronic cardiorenal syndrome, and the effects of mineralocorticoid receptor blockers on glucose tolerance

慢性心腎症候群における進行性腎傷害メカニズムに関する研究、

及び、

ミネラロコルチコイド受容体拮抗薬の耐糖能に対する作用

本 間 剛

山口大学大学院連合獣医学研究科

(宮崎大学)

Contents

General introduction1

Chapter I:

Activation of renal angiotensin type 1 receptor contributes to the pathogenesis of progressive renal injury in a rat model of chronic cardiorenal syndrome

(1) Introduction ······8

(2) Materials and Methods

(i)	Experimental materials11
(ii)	Experimental protocol and surgical procedures11
(iii)	Functional parameters ······12
(iv)	Analyses of blood and urine samples13
(v)	Real-time PCR ······13
(vi)	Myocardial infarct size and renal histology evaluation14
(vii)	Statistical analysis ······15

(3) Results

(i)	Basic characterization	of	model	rats	with	myocardial	infarction
	after unilateral nephre	cto	•my ····	•••••	•••••		16

(ii) Renal histology
(iii) Evaluation of renal inflammation and fibrosis ······18
(iv) Plasma renin activity and expression of rennin-angiotensin
system-related genes in the kidney ······18
(v) Immunohistochemical localization of AT1aR in the kidney of
MI+NX19
(vi) Effect of olmesartan medoxomil on the renal injury in MI+NX \cdots
20
(vii) Effects of spironolactone on the renal injury in MI+NX21
(4) Discussion23
Tables and Figures ······32
Chapter II:
Spironolactone, but not eplerenone, impairs glucose tolerance in a rat model
of metabolic syndrome

(1)	Introduction	5	5
-----	--------------	---	---

(2) Materials and Methods

(i)	Experimental materials	58
(ii)	Experimental protocol	58

(iii)	Measurement	of	urinary	parameters	and	blood	chemical
	parameters ····		•••••••••••		•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • •	59
(iv)	Oral glucose to	lera	nce test ··		• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • •	60
(v)	Statistical anal	lysis	;		• • • • • • • • •		60

(3) Results

(i)	Increase of uNa ⁺ /K ⁺ ratio in ND-SPL100 is similar in extent to
	that in ND-EPL ······61
(ii)	SPL, but not EPL, increases the blood glucose level and improves
	lipid profiles in ND rats ······61
(iii)	SPL, but not EPL, induces impairment of glucose tolerance in
	ND rats ······62
(iv)	SPL does not affect serum insulin or adiponectin concentration in
	ND rats ······63
(v)	SPL increases the serum aldosterone concentration and reduces
	the serum corticosterone concentration in ND rats63
(4) Dise	cussion ······65
Tab	les and Figures ······70
Further di	scussion ·····82

Conclusion ····································	36
References ····································	37
Summary)0
Acknowledgements ·······10)5

General introduction:

Cardiovascular disease is represented as a group of disorders of the heart and blood vessels, such as coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, and peripheral arterial disease. Although a number of drug classes and individual agents have been developed and are available as treatment to improve various risk factors of cardiovascular disease, the prevalence of these risk factors, including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, and obesity, has remained largely unchanged and in some cases has even been increasing. For the development of appropriate therapeutic strategies for each patient (e.g. Which agent or which combination is the best for the treatment of each disease? When should the medication be initiated?), it is important to know in detail about both the pathophysiology of each disease and the features of each drug.

For a long period, heart and kidney diseases have been recognized as independent disease states, and therefore, each disease has been treated separately. However, a number of reports have demonstrated a closed linkage between cardiac and renal dysfunction, and we have realized that the therapeutic strategies for heart or kidney diseases must be developed in consideration of each other. This interaction between heart and kidney termed the cardio-renal syndrome (CRS) is recently a well-recognized and -accepted definition in clinical (1, 2). As shown in Figure 1, Ronco et al. categorized CRS into five types according to the pathophysiology, time-frame,

and nature of the concomitant cardiac and renal dysfunction. Type 1 CRS involves a sudden deterioration of cardiac function leading to acute kidney injury. Type 2 CRS includes chronic abnormalities of cardiac function causing progressive chronic kidney disease. Type 3 CRS, also known as acute renocardiac syndrome, is characterized by acute kidney injury that leads to acute cardiac dysfunction. Type 4 CRS is a state of chronic kidney disease contributing to decreased cardiac function. Type 5 CRS means a systemic condition causing both cardiac and renal dysfunction. To clarify the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying each subtype will help to understand the clinical derangement and provide the rationale for management strategies for the patients with cardiac or renal dysfunction.

The renin angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS) has been well known as a risk factor of both cardiovascular diseases and renal injuries, and in fact, a number of reports have demonstrated that the abnormal activation of RAAS could be a cause of hypertension (3), atherosclerosis (4), and various forms of cardiovascular and renal injury (5). As shown in Figure 2, renin, which is the first rate-regulating enzyme of RAAS, cleaves angiotensinogen to generate the inactive peptide angiotensin I (Ang I). The angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) converts Ang I to the physiologically active peptide angiotensin II (Ang II). Ang II can interact with at least 2 receptors, Ang II type 1 receptor and type 2 receptor (AT1R and AT2R, respectively). Most of the pathological actions of Ang II are considered to be mediated by AT1R. Ang II binding to AT1R, induces vasoconstriction,

oxidative stress, inflammation, and sodium and fluid retention, causing blood pressure elevation and organ damages (heart, vessel, kidney, etc.). Although many of the AT2R functions remain unknown, activation of AT2R may elicit counterregulatory effects to those mediated by the AT1R on cardiovascular tissue (6, 7).

Ang II is also known as a strong inducer of aldosterone production, a physiological ligand of the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR). Aldosterone is classically recognized as a major regulator of electrolyte balance, enhancing sodium reabsorption and potassium excretion, through the activation of MR in renal tubular epithelial cells. In addition to its role in tubular epithelia, a growing body of evidence suggests that aldosterone is directly involved in organ damage in the vasculature (heart, vessel, kidney, etc.) via enhancement of oxidative stress (8), inflammation (9), and fibrosis (10).

The impairment of glucose metabolism is known to be a major risk of cardiovascular diseases. RAAS has also been reported to be associated with the impairment of glucose metabolism (11). Although the mechanisms remain to be fully elucidated, both AT1R and MR activation contribute to downstream signaling pathways that attenuate the signaling mechanisms of insulin, which is a main regulator of blood glucose, and induces insulin resistance (12, 13) in the heart, vasculature, liver, and skeletal muscle, associated with the increased production of reactive oxygen species and oxidative stress (14).

Therefore, the blockade of RAAS at various steps is an attractive

therapeutic strategy for patients with cardiovascular disease risks, and 4 groups of RAAS blockers, including direct renin inhibitor (DRI), ACE inhibitor, AT1R blocker (ARB), and MR blocker, which are currently available in the clinical setting as antihypertensive/cardiorenal protective agents (Figure 1). In fact, a number of clinical studies using these RAAS blockers have demonstrated some beneficial effects on hypertension, acute myocardial infarction, chronic systolic heart failure, stroke and diabetic renal disease (15). To clarify the pathophysiology of diseases and the features of drug, I focused ARB and MR blocker in my research, and the effects of drugs in these groups on various parameters were evaluated,

Olmesartan medoxomil (OLM) is a best-in-class of ARB, which has been developed by Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd. (16), and a number of reports have demonstrated its notable antihypertensive (16), cardioprotective (17, 18), renoprotective (19) and antiatherosclerotic effects (20). Spironolactone (SPL) and eplerenone (EPL), both of which are MR antagonists currently used in a clinical setting, are widely recognized to be beneficial for patients with hypertension and heart failure (21-23). A growing body of evidence suggests that MR antagonists also exert a renoprotective effect in type 2 diabetes independently of the antihypertensive effect (24-27). These results suggest the involvement of RAAS in some types of CRS, however, few reports have focused on this point in the animal study.

In Chapter I, to elucidate the detail of the mechanism of CRS, I created the rat model combining myocardial infarction with unilateral nephrectomy, and confirmed the potencies as a CRS model by the measurement of several cardiac, renal and neurohumoral parameters. In addition, the effects of OLM and SPL on the pathology in this model were also examined.

Both SPL and EPL are MR antagonists with a similar steroid structure, but they are known to have distinct

pharmacological/pharmacokinetic profiles; EPL shows greater MR selectivity instead of lower MR blocking potency and has non-genomic properties, and SPL has active metabolites (28). However, there are few studies to compare two drugs directly, and pharmacological differences remains to be completely clarified. Recently, Yamaji et al. have shown that SPL, but not EPL, increases HbA1c in patients with mild chronic heart failure (29). Although the mechanism remains to be elucidated, blood glucose elevation is a major risk of cardiovascular disease. Therefore, I considered that it was important to clarify the mechanism in detail.

In Chapter II, to elucidate the effect of MR antagonists on blood glucose, I administered SPL or EPL to metabolic syndrome rats and examined several blood parameters.

 $\mathbf{5}$

CRS	Primary disorders	Secondary disorders
Туре 1	Acute heart disease	Acute renal injury
Туре 2	Chronic heart disease	Progression of Kidney damage
Туре 3	Acute kidney injury	Acute heart dysfunction
Type 4	Chronic kidney disease	Progression of cardiac damage
Туре 5	Systemic diseases Diabetes etc	Heart failure Renal insufficiency

Figure 1. Cardiorenal syndrome

Cardiorenal syndrome (CRS) is categorized into five types according to the pathophysiology, time-frame, and nature of the concomitant cardiac and renal dysfunction.



Figure 2. Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) and clinically available classes of agents that can block RAAS.

Chapter I:

Activation of renal angiotensin type 1 receptor contributes to the pathogenesis of progressive renal injury in a rat model of chronic cardiorenal syndrome

(1) Introduction

It has been reported that cardiac dysfunction induces renal injury, and that conversely impaired renal function could be a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases (1, 30-38). These findings have led to the recognition that there is an interaction between heart and kidney diseases, a condition referred to as CRS (1, 38, 39). Ronco et al. categorized CRS into five types according to the pathophysiology, time-frame, and nature of the concomitant cardiac and renal dysfunction (1, 39). Type 1 CRS involves a sudden deterioration of cardiac function leading to acute kidney injury. Type 2 CRS includes chronic abnormalities of cardiac function causing progressive chronic kidney disease. Type 3 CRS, also known as acute renocardiac syndrome, is characterized by acute kidney injury that leads to acute cardiac dysfunction. Type 4 CRS is a state of chronic kidney disease contributing to decreased cardiac function. Type 5 CRS means a systemic condition causing both cardiac and renal dysfunction. For adequate diagnosis and treatment of CRS, it is important to clarify the mechanisms of each type in detail using animal models. However, established animal models for CRS are very limited, particularly so for

chronic types of CRS such as Type 2 and Type 4 (1, 36).

The RAAS is well known to play a role in the pathogenesis of both cardiac and renal injury (40-42). Blockade of the RAAS using ACEI and ARB effectively attenuates both forms of injury (3, 5, 43-45). Moreover, accumulating evidence indicates that aldosterone, an agonist for the MR, plays a pathogenetic role in tissue injuries that are characterized by fibrosis, inflammation, and oxidative stress (46-48), and that MR antagonists exert protective actions on both the heart and the kidney (21, 22, 23, 49).

The van Dokkum group has shown that surgically induced myocardial infarction (MI) after unilateral nephrectomy (NX) results in progressive renal injury in rats, reproducing the features of patients with Type 2 CRS (36). Subsequently, based on results obtained using an ACE inhibitor, they suggested that the renin angiotensin system (RAS) was involved in the pathogenesis of the progressive renal injury (50). In that study, however, the ACE inhibitor caused a dramatic decrease in blood pressure and an improvement of cardiac parameters. Therefore, at present, the pathogenetic role of RAS in that model is still unclear. Furthermore, the contribution of aldosterone to the pathogenesis in that model has yet to be clarified.

In order to reveal some of the detail of the mechanism of renal injury in an animal model corresponding to human Type 2 CRS, I studied several cardiac, renal and neurohumoral parameters in rats with MI after NX. Also the effects of olmesartan medoxomil, an ARB, and spironolactone, a MR

antagonist, on the renal injury in this model were examined.

(2) Materials and Methods

(i) Experimental materials

Olmesartan medoxomil was synthesized at Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd (Tokyo, Japan). Spironolactone was purchased from Shanghai FWD Chemicals Co., Ltd (Shanghai, China).

(ii) Experimental protocol and surgical procedures

All experiments were carried out in accordance with *the Animal Experimentation Guidelines of Daiichi-Sankyo Co., Ltd., and the Law Concerning the Protection and Control of Animals* (Japanese Law No. 105, October 1, 1973, revised on June 22, 2005), *Standards Relating to the Care and Management of Laboratory Animals and Relief of Pain*, (Notification No.88 of the Ministry of the Environment, Japan, April 28, 2006) and Guidelines for Animal Experimentation, (the Japanese Association for Laboratory Animal Science, May 22, 1987).

Male Slc:Wistar rats (6 weeks of age) were purchased from Japan SLC Inc. (Shizuoka, Japan). The rats underwent surgical procedures for unilateral nephrectomy at 7 weeks of age and myocardial infarction at 8 weeks of age. At two weeks after the myocardial infarction surgery, rats were assigned to 4 groups: control, MI, NX, and MI+NX in Study 1.

In the other series of experiments for evaluating the effects of drugs, MI+NX rats were divided into Vehicle and OLM groups in Study 2 or Control

and SPL groups in Study 3. Under anesthesia with sodium pentobarbital (40 mg/kg, i.p.), rats were subjected to unilateral right nephrectomy after ligating the renal artery and vein, and the urethra. The sham group underwent only laparotomy without nephrectomy.

MI was produced by ligation of the left ascending coronary artery (LAD). Briefly, rats under anesthesia were intubated, connected to a ventilator (SAR-830/AP Small Animal Ventilator, CWE Inc., The Netherlands), and underwent left-sided thoracotomy. The LAD was ligated about 3 mm from its origin with an 8-0 silk suture. The sham group only underwent left-sided thoracotomy.

(iii) Functional parameters

Systolic blood pressure (SBP) was measured by the tail-cuff method (MK-2000; Muromachi Kikai, Tokyo, Japan) in awake, restrained animals at the time-points described in the text.

At the end of the study (Week 36 in Study 1 and Week 16 in Study 2), a pressure transducer (Micro-Tip 3French; Millar Instruments, Houston, TX) was inserted from the right carotid artery for the measurement of cardiac function under sodium pentobarbital anesthesia. After stabilization, the left ventricular systolic pressure (LVSP), LVEDP, heart rate (HR) and \pm dP/dt were recorded using a polygraph system (Nihon Kohden Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). To determine cardiac reserve, changes of these parameters after an intravenous injection of 6 μ g/kg dobutamine were also measured. Thereafter,

a blood sample was collected from the abdominal aorta. The heart and kidney were then removed and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formaldehyde solution (Wako Pure Chemical Industries Ltd., Japan) for histopathological examination and another piece was stored at '80°C. For the heart, the left and right ventricular weights were measured and the left ventricle was also fixed in 10% neutral buffered formaldehyde solution for measurement of the myocardial infarct size. In Study 2, before fixation, the LV pressure volume relationship was obtained using isolated hearts as described previously (51).

(iv) Analyses of blood and urine samples

ANP and BNP (DRG Instruments GMBH, Germany), and PRA (Renin RIA beads, TFB Inc., Tokyo, Japan) were measured with a radioimmunoassay kit. Twenty-four-hour urine was collected using a metabolic cage. Urinary total protein and creatinine were measured using an Aution Master system (UM-3410; ARKRAY Inc., Kyoto, Japan).

(v) Real-time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from frozen kidney using an RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Tokyo, Japan). Five µg of total RNA from each preparation was reverse-transcribed using the SuperScript III First -Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA). Real-time PCR analyses were performed using SYBR Premix Ex Taq II (Takara Bio Inc., Shiga, Japan). The reverse-transcribed cDNA was mixed in a final volume of

20 μL with specific primers as shown in Table 1. GAPDH was used as an internal control. Real-time PCR and data analyses were performed using a 7900HT system (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies).

(vi) Myocardial infarct size and renal histology evaluation

For measurement of the myocardial infarct size, the hearts were cut into five transverse slices. The images of the sections were captured and digitized, and then the lengths of the infarcted wall and non-infarcted wall (epicardial surface) were measured in 4 slices through the apical side using Photoshop 4 (Adobe Systems Inc.). The infarct size was expressed as a ratio of the sum of infarct length relative to the entire LV length. The infarcted myocardium was identified by the histology of the scar tissue.

Histological and immunohistochemical analyses of the kidneys were performed as described previously (52). The kidneys were fixed in a 10% formaldehyde solution, and then the tissue was paraffin-embedded, cut into 2 µm thick, deparaffinized, and rehydrated. Renal sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE) or periodic acid–Schiff (PAS). To determine the incidence of glomerulosclerosis (FGS), 50 glomeruli in each PAS-stained section were examined, and the severity of glomerulosclerosis was scored into 4 grades (0·3) in a blinded manner. The degree of mononuclear cell infiltration was quantified in areas across the kidney specimen, as described previously (53). For immunohistochemistry, antigens in the kidney sections were retrieved by incubating each specimen in distilled water at 121 °C for 5

min. Each specimen was then incubated with anti- AT1R antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), and immunoreactivity was visualized using Alexa Fluor® 488 anti-rabbit IgG (Molecular Probes, Inc., Eugene, OR). Semiquantitative analysis was performed by measuring the intensity 155 of fluorescence using an image-quantification system attached to the microscope (Olympus FV300, Tokyo, Japan), and the mean intensity was calculated per area unit. For each animal, more than 10 fields in each section were examined. When a conventional immunohistochemical analysis was performed, endogenous peroxidase was consumed using 3 % H₂O₂ solution, and then immunoreactivity was visualized using Envision System Labelled Polymer reagent (DAKO Japan, Tokyo, Japan), followed by treatment with 3, 3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride.

(vii) Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SE unless specified otherwise. The differences from the Control group were compared by 2-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's tests for parameters determined in the multi-group study. For comparison between the Vehicle and OLM groups, or the Control and SPL groups, Student's t-test was used. In all tests, P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

(3) Results

(i) Basic characterization of model rats with myocardial infarction after unilateral nephrectomy

In the first series of experiments (Study 1), rats were divided into 4 groups: the control group (subjected to a double sham operation), MI group (subjected to MI surgery alone), NX group (subjected to NX surgery alone), and MI+NX group (subjected to both MI and NX surgery). At one week after NX or sham operation, MI or sham surgery (2nd surgery) was performed. The time point at two weeks after the 2nd surgery was assigned as Week 0, and I continued to observe several parameters until Week 37 when necropsy was performed. When we measured body weights at Week 37, no significant differences were evident among the 4 groups (control: 467 ± 10 , n = 12; MI: 451 ± 179 11, n = 10; NX: 479 ± 8 , n = 12; MI+NX: 443 ± 11 g, n = 14), indicating that the procedures employed in this study did not produce any non-specific toxicological effects. Figure 3 summarizes the time course of urinary protein excretion. Proteinuria gradually increased in the NX and MI+NX groups, the level being markedly higher in the latter. In contrast to both of these groups, the MI group did not exhibit significant proteinuria. In order to estimate the renal function, I measured the plasma creatinine concentration at Week 37. Plasma creatinine concentrations in the NX and MI+NX groups were slightly higher than that in the control group (control: 0.3 ± 0.1 , n = 12; MI: 0.4 ± 0.1 , n = 10; NX: 0.5 ± 0.1 , n = 12, P<0.05; MI+NX:

 $0.6 \pm 0.2 \text{ mg} / \text{dl}$, N = 13, P<0.001), but the values were within the normal range, indicating that the renal function was little affected by the surgery.

Figure 4 and 5 show the time course of the heart rate (HR) and systolic blood pressure (SBP), respectively. The HR did not differ among the groups except the control group at Week 12. Only in the MI group, the SBP was significantly lower at Week 23 or later, in comparison with the control group.

Table 2 summarizes the cardiac parameters and myocardial infarction size measured at the end of the observation period (Week 37). A marked decrease in the maximum rate of increase or decrease in left ventricular pressure (±dP/dt) and an increase in left ventricular end diastolic pressure (LVEDP) were observed in both the MI and MI+NX groups, accompanied by significant increases in the levels of atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) and B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP), hormonal markers of cardiac dysfunction. The response to dobutamine tended to be decreased in both the MI and MI+NX groups, indicating a reduction of myocardial contractile reserve. Comparison between the MI and MI+NX groups revealed virtually no difference in cardiac parameters. Along with cardiac dysfunction, myocardial infarction was macroscopically evident, and the infarct sizes in the two groups were quite similar. These data clearly indicated that our MI+NX model was characterized by progressive kidney injury, as evidenced by gradually increasing proteinuria without enhancement of cardiac injury.

 $\mathbf{17}$

(ii) Renal histology

At Week 37 the renal histology was evaluated, and the results are shown in Figure 6 and 7. In comparison with the Control group, there were no significant changes of renal histology in the MI group. In contrast, lesions such as urinary cast formation, infiltration of mononuclear cells, an increase in the mesangial matrix, adhesion of Bowman's capsule, interstitial fibrosis, and glomerulosclerosis were clearly evident in the MI+NX group. On the other hand, these changes in the NX group were moderate (data not shown).

(iii) Evaluation of renal inflammation and fibrosis

As renal inflammation and fibrosis were marked in the MI+NX group, I examined the renal expression of mRNAs for interleukin (IL)-16, an inflammatory cytokine, and transforming growth factor (TGF)-61, a profibrogenic cytokine (54). As shown in Figure 8 and 9, when compared with in the Control group, the mRNAs of both renal IL-16 and TGF-61 were significantly up-regulated in the MI+NX group.

(iv) Plasma renin activity and expression of rennin-angiotensin system-related genes in the kidney

Although there is very limited understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 2 CRS, it has been suggested that the RAS may be involved (50). Therefore we examined plasma renin activity (PRA) and renal expression of mRNAs for RAS-related genes, such as angiotensin II type 1a receptor (AT1aR), Type 2

receptor (AT2R), and renin in the experimental groups. As shown in Figure 10, PRA was significantly lower only in the MI+NX group relative to the controls. On the other hand, the gene expression level of AT1aR in the kidney was significantly higher only in the MI+NX group (Figure 11). Expression of mRNA for both AT2R tended to be increased in the MI+NX group relative to the controls, but not to a significant degree (Figure 12). There was no difference between the groups in the level of renin mRNA (Figure 13).

(v) Immunohistochemical localization of AT1aR in the kidney of MI+NX group

Next, I examined the renal expression level and distribution of AT1R protein using an immunohistochemical technique. As shown in Figure 14, up•regulation of AT1R was clearly observed in the renal cortex in the MI + NX group, relative to the control group (Figure 14, A•C). In the renal cortex, when the expression level of AT1R protein was separately quantified in the glomerulus and interstitium, except for blood vessels, that in the interstitium was dramatically increased in the MI+NX group, while up•regulation in the glomerulus was modest (Figure 14, F and G). Higher magnification (Figure 14E) revealed that most of the AT1R-positive cells in the interstitium were infiltrating mononuclear cells, and this staining pattern was quite consistent across the specimens. Furthermore, when I carefully observed serial sections from the MI+NX group stained with HE

and anti-AT1R antibody (Figure 15), most infiltrating mononuclear cells were positive for AT1R, while in the peritubular capillaries of the renal interstitium, AT1R-staining was hardly detected.

In the outer medulla, increased AT1R protein was also observed mainly in the interstitium in the MI+NX group (Figure 14H). On the other hand, in the inner medulla, up-regulation of AT1R protein was modest in the MI+NX group (data not shown).

Taken together, these results indicate that, in the MI+NX group, the expression level of AT1R protein was mainly increased in the infiltrating mononuclear cells in the interstitium of the cortex and outer medulla.

(vi) Effect of olmesartan medoxomil on the renal injury in MI+NX group The above results suggested the involvement of renal AT1R signaling in the progressive renal injury seen in MI+NX rats. Therefore, I examined the effect of olmesartan, an ARB (16), at a dose that would not be expected to cause hypotension in normotensive rats (55), on proteinuria in the MI+NX group. For this series of experiments (Study 2), rats were divided into two groups: Vehicle group (0.5% methylcellulose, p.o.) and OLM group (olmesartan medoxomil, 5 mg/kg/day, p.o.). At one week after NX, MI surgery was performed. At two weeks after the MI surgery, drug administration was started and continued for 16 weeks, after which necropsy was performed. The start of drug administration was designated as Week 0. As shown in Figure 16, proteinuria was significantly improved in the OLM group at

Weeks 8 and 12. Along with reduction of proteinuria, histological alterations resulting from the combined surgery were ameliorated (Figure 18 and 19). On the other hand, when we measured HR and SBP at Week 12, there was no significant difference between the two groups (Figure 20 and 21). Figure 17 and Table 3 show the LV-pressure-volume relationship and cardiac parameters at Week 16, respectively, and neither of the parameters differed significantly different between the two groups. These data clearly indicate that ARB reduced proteinuria in MI rats after NX, and that this effect was independent of blood pressure and cardiac parameters, suggesting that the reduced proteinuria was mediated by direct inhibition of renal AT1R signaling.

(vii) Effects of spironolactone on the renal injury in MI+NX rats

Finally, in order to clarify the involvement of aldosterone, I investigated the effect of spironolactone (47) on the proteinuria in MI rats after NX (Study 3). Rats were divided into two groups: Control group (normal diet) and SPL group (0.05% spironolactone-mixed diet). The treatment schedule was the same in Study 2. As shown in Figure 22, the level of proteinuria did not differ significantly between the two groups. When I compared the urinary volume between the two groups at Week 11, the SPL group showed greater urinary volume excretion than the Control group (the Control group: 9.8 ± 0.6 , n = 7; the SPL group: 13.3 ± 0.6 mL / day, n = 6, P < 0.01). As spironolactone is known to be a diuretic, the dose used in this study was sufficient to produce

 $\mathbf{21}$

pharmacological effects.

(4) Discussion

In this study, MI surgery alone induced a reduction of cardiac function, but did not affect the renal function or histology in comparison with the control rats. NX alone caused a moderate degree of renal injury as evidenced by a mild increase in urinary protein excretion, in comparison with rats subjected to sham or MI surgery. Combined MI and NX notably induced progressive renal injury in comparison with the other experimental groups, but did not induce further cardiac dysfunction in comparison with rats that underwent MI alone, at least during the experimental period I employed. Moreover, cardiac contraction was markedly inhibited at two weeks after MI surgery (on the basis of M-mode echocardiography; data not shown), and proteinuria was evident at 10 weeks or later after surgery, indicating that cardiac dysfunction clearly preceded the onset of renal injury in rats subjected to MI+NX. According to Ronco's classification (1), among the five types of CRS in humans, there are two chronic forms: Type 2 and Type 4 CRS. Type 2 CRS involves chronic cardiac dysfunction causing progressive chronic kidney disease, whereas Type 4 is a state of chronic kidney disease contributing to an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events. Recently, it has been suggested that when cardiovascular disease precedes the onset of chronic kidney disease, patients should be classified as having Type 2 CRS (38). Therefore our rat model subjected to both MI and NX was considered to be a model for type 2 CRS, at least during the observation period I employed.

The model used in this study was first established by van Dokkum's group (36). Subsequently they observed amelioration of renal injury upon treatment with an ACE inhibitor, and concluded that the RAS was involved in the pathogenesis of the progressive kidney injury in this model (50). However, in their study, the ACE inhibitor also caused a 30% reduction of SBP just after the administration, relative to the pretreatment value, and this hypotension continued during the treatment period. They also observed that the ACE inhibitor improved cardiac parameters such as heart weight, LVEDP, left ventricular end-systolic pressure (LVESP), and +dP/dt max at the end of the experimental period, in comparison with vehicle-treated rats. Although these data suggested involvement of the RAS in renal injury, the possible contribution of hypotension and improvement of cardiac parameters could not be excluded. In the present study, I observed that combined MI and NX induced up regulation of the renal AT1R gene and protein, along with proteinuria and renal injury, and down-regulation of PRA. Moreover, treatment with olmesartan medoxomil was dramatically effective in reducing both the proteinuria and renal injury of rats after both MI and NX, without either hypotension or improvement of cardiac parameters. In contrast to the effect of ARB, the proteinuria was unaffected by spironolactone. Our data are the first to demonstrate that renal activation of AT1R is an important cause of renal injury in a model of Type 2 CRS, and that this seems to be independent of systemic RAS activation and aldosterone signaling.

 $\mathbf{24}$

Renin is the first, rate-limiting enzyme of the RAAS, and PRA has been reported to increase in heart failure after MI due to renal hypoperfusion (56). In this study, PRA showed a tendency to be high in rats after MI alone, but was rather reduced in rats with MI+NX. It has been shown that there is a feedback mechanism for renin release through the direct intrarenal action of Ang II (57). The present PCR and immunohistochemical studies suggested activation of the renal RAS in rats after MI+NX. Therefore the reduced PRA level in rats with MI+NX may be due to a feedback mechanism. Furthermore it has been reported that NX prevents the increase in PRA induced by renal ischemia through a reduced renal cortical renin content (58), and therefore this mechanism may also play a role in the reduction of the PRA level in this model.

The results of the present study clearly indicated that renal activation of the RAS is involved in renal injury in rats after combined MI and NX surgery. The mechanism responsible for activation of the renal RAS under these experimental conditions is an important issue. Although the present study was unable to address this question, the findings of several previous investigations may be informative. Using the same MI+NX animal model, van Dokkum et al. observed that the degree of proteinuria increased in parallel with MI size (36). MI is known to cause heart failure, leading in turn to hypoperfusion of the kidney, and thereby systemic activation of the RAS (36, 56). It has also been shown that Ang II infusion causes renal mononuclear cell infiltration, and that the mononuclear cells contain

 $\mathbf{25}$

angiotensin converting enzyme, renin, renin receptors, angiotensinogen, and AT1R (59-65). On the basis of these observations, it is thought that in our model the RAS is systemically activated immediately after MI surgery, and that this in turn triggers renal mononuclear cell infiltration. Subsequently, the systemically activated RAS returns to its original level or even lower because of the aforementioned feedback mechanism and also nephrectomy. Thereafter, the mononuclear cells in the kidney self-activate the RAS and/or activate the renal RAS components. The degree of this activation is sufficient to injure the kidney in rats that have been unilaterally nephrectomized, but not in rats retaining both kidneys. Studies to investigate the time courses of systemic and renal activation of the RAS after MI alone, NX alone, or their combination would be helpful for clarifying this putative mechanism.

It has been reported that olmesartan medoxomil is effective in rats with MI (66). However, in this study I observed no beneficial effect of olmesartan medoxomil on cardiac parameters in rats with MI+NX. The reason for this discrepancy is currently unclear. However the administration regimen I employed in this study was quite different from that of the other study. Here, drug administration was started two weeks after MI surgery, whereas it was started 1 week before surgery in the other study. In general, pre-treatment with drugs is known to be more effective than post-treatment, and this may have been one reason for the discrepancy. Other factors, including differences in the number of kidneys, handling of rats, feeding regimes, and intestinal microbiota, may also have contributed to the

difference. In the present study, combined MI and NX led to proteinuria and an increased level of renal AT1R mRNA. Our immunohistochemical study clearly showed that AT1R protein was increased mainly in the renal interstitium, especially in infiltrating mononuclear cells. Previously, it has been reported that in animal models of kidney injury accompanied by proteinuria, such as 5/6 nephrectomy (67) and chronic inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis (68), AT1R is over-expressed in the renal interstitium, particularly in areas of inflammation. Furthermore, losartan, an ARB, is effective against renal injury in these animal models. Although these animals exhibited progressive hypertension, unlike the present model, the data overall suggest that activation of AT1R in the renal interstitium may be an important cause of proteinuria. Interestingly, a recent human study has shown that renal interstitial expression of AT1R is increased in patients with proteinuria due to progressive glomerulopathies (69), thus supporting this notion.

In addition to mononuclear cell infiltration, disturbances of blood flow in the peritubular capillaries of the renal interstitium and resulting tissue oxygenation have been reported to be involved in proteinuria. Furthermore, RAS inhibition has been reported to restore blood flow and improve renal oxygenation (70). Given that AT1R is intensely expressed in the renal vasculatures (71), inhibition of RAS in the efferent glomerular arterioles by treatment with ARB could exert renoprotective effects in rats with MI+NX through an increase in blood supply to the downstream

 $\mathbf{27}$

interstitium. In future studies, blood flow in the peritubular capillaries of the renal interstitium should be determined in rats with NX+MI.

The present study did not address the types of cells involved in the increase of AT1R in the renal interstitium. Several types of inflammatory cells expressing Ang II and/or AT1R, such as lymphocytes and macrophages, have been suggested to infiltrate the renal interstitium in renal injury models (59.65, 72). Among these inflammatory cells, studies with mice lacking lymphocytes have suggested a pathogenetic role of T lymphocytes in Ang II-induced tissue injury, including the kidney (73, 74), while the results obtained with AT1R-deficient mice have suggested a protective role of macrophages against kidney injury resulting from unilateral ureteral obstruction (61). On the other hand, in recent years, evidence has emerged to suggest that specific macrophage phenotypes are involved in the pathobiology of renal injury. For example, it has been thought that M1 macrophages exacerbate renal cell damage, M2c macrophages promote epithelial and vascular repair, and M2a macrophages accelerate fibrogenesis (75). In order to further examine the mechanisms underlying the renal injury in rats after MI+NX, future studies will need to assess the types of infiltrating AT1R positive mononuclear cells.

In our study, although it did not reach significance, the level of AT2 mRNA tended to have increased in the NX+MI group, in comparison with the control group. Furthermore, I also showed that ARB was effective in ameliorating the progression of renal injury in rats MI+NX. It has been

 $\mathbf{28}$

thought that the beneficial effect of ARB is largely linked to the blockade of AT1R action. Hypothetically, however, an increase in the level of unbound Ang II after AT1R blockade, being diverted to and activating the AT2R, could also be contributory. In fact, Naito et al. (76) have shown that the beneficial effect of ARB on renal injury induced by 5/6 nephrectomy is attributable to not only blockade of the AT1R, but also an increase in the effect of Ang II mediated via the AT2R. In this study, therefore, olmesartan medoxomil might have exerted its beneficial effect on renal injury in rats with MI+NX partly through activation of AT2R. In contrast, however, Cao et al. (77) using the same 5/6 nephrectomy animal model have reported that blockade of the AT2R alone confers a degree of renal protection. In future studies, it will be necessary to clarify the extent to which AT2R activation by treatment with ARB contributes to renal protection in rats with MI+NX.

In the present study, I administered olmesartan medoxomil to rats at a dose of 5 mg/kg, which is higher than the daily therapeutic dose in humans (40 mg/body/day). In rats, however, this dose is not extremely high, because the serum concentration becomes equivalent to that in humans (maximum concentration 850 ng/ml in rats administered 5 mg/kg or in humans administered 40 mg/body; respective areas under the curve during 24 h: 4,900 ng x h/ml and 5,200 ng x h/ml). In addition, weI did not observe any serious adverse effects after administration of this dose of olmesartan medoxomil to rats. Therefore, it is unlikely that clinically irrelevant blood concentration of olmesartan medoxomil causes renoprotection observed in

the present study.

The findings in our animal model suggest that living kidney donors and patients with one kidney could have a greater risk of renal damage after cardiovascular events than those with two kidneys. So far, to our knowledge, no published study has investigated this issue. On the other hand, one reported study that has examined whether cardiovascular events are increased after kidney donation (78). The results of that study suggested that the risk of cardiovascular disease was unchanged in the first decade after kidney donation, and that living kidney donors were more frequently diagnosed as having hypertension, probably due to nephrectomy. Since hypertension itself is a well-known risk factor for kidney injury, the available data indicate that it may be difficult to interpret the findings of any study examining the risk of progressive kidney disease after cardiovascular events in humans with one kidney.

Although there is plenty of clinical evidence for the interaction between kidney and cardiovascular diseases, clinical studies of Type 2 CRS have been very limited (1, 30·38). However, among the studies available, the CATS randomized trial has examined the effect of RAS inhibition by captopril, an ACE inhibitor, in the patients with Type 2 CRS. The trial population comprised 298 patients with a first anterior wall MI (22). Renal function, as judged by glomerular filtration rate, declined by 5.5 mL / min / year in the placebo group but by only 0.5 mL / min / year in the ACE inhibitor group. This suggests the pathogenetic role of the RAS in patients with Type 2
CRS, thus supporting our data obtained with this animal model, and furthermore, indicating that blockade of the Ang II signal would be a therapeutic or preventive strategy against Type 2 CRS. In order to verify this possibility, further clinical evaluations in humans will be required.

Table 1. Primer sequence for real-time PCR

Gene	Sense primer	Anti-sense primer					
AT1aR	CCCACTCAAGCCTGTCTACGAA	GTGTGCTTTGAACCTGTCACTCC					
AT2R	CTTGGATGCTCTGACCTGGATG	AAGCGGTTTCCAACGAAACAATAC					
Renin	AGGCAGGACCTACACTCTCAGCA	ATGAAGGTGGCACCCAGGAC					
IL-16	GCTGTGGCAGCTACCTATGTCTTG	AGGTCGTCATCATCCCACGAG					
TGF-81	TGCGCCTGCAGAGATTCAAG	AGGTAACGCCAGGAATTGTTGCTA					
GAPDH	GGCACAGTCAAGGCTGAGAATG	ATGGTGGTGAAGACGCCAGTA					

AT1aR: angiotensin II type 1a receptor; AT2R: angiotensin II type 2 receptor;

ACE; angiotensin converting enzyme;

IL-16: interleukin-16;

TGF-81: transforming growth factor-81;

GAPDH: glyceraldehyde-3.phosphate dehydrogenase

Parameters	Control		MI			NX			MI+NX			
BW (g)	467	±	10	451	±	11	479	±	8	443	±	11
HR (bpm)	392	±	17	404	±	19	397	±	13	402	±	19
LVSP (mmHg)	138	±	5	110	±	7 **	133	±	5	124	Ŧ	4
+dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	6120	±	306	4014	Ŧ	391**	6179	±	393	4413	±	251**
-dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	-4619	±	272	-2891	±	274**	-4695	±	308	-3237	±	197**
LVEDP (mmHg)	3.2	±	0.7	13.8	±	3.4^{*}	4.7	±	1.9	15.1	±	3.4^{**}
Δ +dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	1691	±	273	490	±	127	1938	±	572	369	±	90*
Δ -dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	-1110	±	117	-288	±	77	-1405	±	649	-175	±	50
MI size (%)		-		35.6	±	1.5		-		32.7	±	2.5
ANP (pg/mL)	248	±	57	1108	±	126**	203	±	58	1239	±	113**
BNP (pg/mL)	106	±	2	198	±	28**	108	±	3	213	±	14**

Table 2. Cardiac function, myocardial infarction size and plasma natriuretic peptide concentration in the experimental groups

BW: body weight; HR: heart rate; LVSP: left ventricular systolic pressure; \pm dP/dt: maximum rate of increase or decrease in left ventricle pressure; LVEDP: left ventricular end-diastolic pressure; $\Delta \pm$ dP/dt: change values of \pm dP/dt after 6 µg/kg dobutamine infusion; MI size: myocardial infarction size; ANP: atrial natriuretic peptide; BNP: brain natriuretic peptide. All parameters were measured at week 36. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 10 to 12 in each group. *P <0.05 and **P <0.01 compared with the Control group.

Table 3. Effects of olmesartan medoxomil on cardiac function and myocardial infarction size in rats underwent both unilateral nephrectomy and myocardial infarction surgery

Parameters	Vehicle			0	<i>P</i> -value		
BW (g)	359	±	18	353	±	17	0.814
HR (bpm)	373	±	6	377	±	6	0.641
LVSP (mmHg)	124	±	5	110	±	4	0.069
+dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	7506	±	446	6402	±	434	0.112
-dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	-5715	±	390	-5060	±	395	0.273
LVEDP (mmHg)	17.8	±	4.4	19.8	±	5.4	0.780
Δ +dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	1614	±	330	1278	±	377	0.528
Δ -dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	-1277	±	287	-1153	±	239	0.746
MI size (%)	38.9	±-	2.9	38.4	±	1.6	0.879

BW: body weight; HR: heart rate; LVSP: left ventricular systolic pressure; $\pm dP/dt$: maximum rate of increase or decrease in left ventricle pressure; LVEDP: left ventricular end-diastolic pressure; $\Delta \pm dP/dt$: change values of $\pm dP/dt$ after 6 µg/kg dobutamine infusion; MI size: myocardial infarction size. All parameters were measured at week 16. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 5 to 6 in each group.







Week of observation period



Rats were assigned to 4 groups: double sham operation (Control), myocardial infarction (MI), unilateral nephrectomy (NX), and combined surgery (MI+NX). The time point at which MI or sham operation (2nd surgery) was performed was assigned as Week 0. Heart rate measured by tail-cuff method, is expressed at the indicated time points. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 12 to 16 in each group. **P*<0.05 compared with the Control group.



Figure 5. Systolic blood pressure in the rat combined NX and MI Rats were assigned to 4 groups: double sham operation (Control), myocardial infarction (MI), unilateral nephrectomy (NX), and combined surgery (MI+NX). The time point at which MI or sham operation (2nd surgery) was performed was assigned as Week 0. Systolic blood pressure measured by tail-cuff method, is expressed at the indicated time points. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 12 to 16 in each group. **P*<0.05 compared with the Control group.



Figure 6. Histopathological observation of kidney in rats combined NX and MI

At the end of the study (Week 36), kidney sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (A), periodic acid-Schiff (B, C), and Masson's trichrome (D). All images are from the MI+NX group. Arrows in (A), (B), and (C) indicate cast formation, increase of the mesangial matrix, and infiltration of mononuclear cells, respectively. Scale bar, 50 μm.





In microscopic observation of renal histopathology, (A) the degree of glomerulosclerosis was scored and the summarized data are shown. The values are shown as mean \pm SE. **P<0.01 compared with the Control group. (B) The severity of infiltration of mononuclear cells was microscopically semi-quantified and the summarized data is shown. In each group, the specimens from 3 animals were evaluated.



Figure 8. Renal interleukin-16 gene expression in rats combined NX and MI Renal gene expressions of interleukin-16 (IL-16) in the kidney of the experimental groups were measured by real-time PCR. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 10 to 14 in each group. ***P*<0.01 compared with the Control group.





Renal gene expressions of transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1) in the kidney of the experimental groups were measured by real-time PCR. The values are shown as mean ± SE; n = 10 to 14 in each group. *P<0.05 compared with the Control group.









Gene expression of angiotensin II type 1a (AT1a) receptor in the kidney was measured by real-time PCR. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 10 to 14 in each group. ***P*<0.01 compared with the Control group.





Gene expression of angiotensin II type 2 (AT2) receptor in the kidney was measured by real-time PCR. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 10 to 14 in each group.



Figure 13. Renal renin gene expression in rats combined NX and MI Gene expression of renin in the kidney was measured by real-time PCR. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 10 to 14 in each group.



Figure 14. Combined NX and MI increases angiotensin II type 1 receptor protein in the renal interstitium. Kidney specimen from the MI group (A), NX group (B), and MI+NX group (C) were stained for angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R). (D) Negative control without primary antibody. G, glomerulus; V, blood vessel. Scale bar, 50 μ m. (E) Staining pattern for AT1R in the renal interstitium with infiltration of mononuclear cells at high magnification. AlexaFluor488 (AT1R), DIC, and Merge show green fluorescence, differential interference contrast, and their merged images, respectively. T, proximal tubule. Scale bar, 50 μ m. Summarized quantitative data for fluorescence of AT1R in the glomerulus (F), interstitium (G), and outer medulla (H) in the experimental groups are shown. The values are shown as mean ± SE; n = 3 in each group. *P<0.05 and ***P<0.001 compared with the control group.



Figure 15. Immunohistochemical analysis of AT1aR using serial sections of kidney in the present model of type 2 cardiorenal syndrome. At the end of the study (Week 37), sections of kidney were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (A and C), and anti-AT1R antibody (B and D). All images are from the MI+NX group. Images at low magnification (A and B) and high magnification (C and D) are shown. Scale bar, 100 μ m. Arrows indicate massive infiltration of mononuclear cells.



Figure 16. Blockade of AT1R signaling reduces progressive proteinuria in model of Type 2 cardio-renal syndrome. Rats with MI+NX were assigned to 2 groups: Vehicle group (0.5% methylcellulose, p.o.) and OLM group (olmesartan medoxiomil, 5 mg/kg/day, p.o.). The administration started at 2 weeks after the MI surgery. Week 0 indicates the time when administration was started. Urinary protein excretion per day is expressed at the indicated time points. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 7 to 11 in each group. *P<0.05; **P<0.01 compared with vehicle group.



Figure 17. Blockade of AT1R signaling shows no effect on systolic blood pressure and cardiac remodeling in model of Type 2 cardio-renal syndrome. Rats with MI+NX were assigned to 2 groups: Vehicle group (0.5% methylcellulose, p.o.) and OLM group (olmesartan medoxiomil, 5 mg/kg/day, p.o.). The administration started at 2 weeks after the MI surgery. Week 0 indicates the time when administration was started. Left ventricular pressure-volume curves were obtained at the end of the study using isolated hearts. The data from age-matched animals without surgery (the intact group) are also shown. The curves show a significant rightward shift in both the vehicle and OLM groups compared with the intact group (P<0.01). No significant difference was evident between the Vehicle and OLM groups. The values are shown as mean ± SE; n = 3 for the intact group, n = 6 for the Vehicle group and n = 6 for the OLM group.



Figure 18. Blockade of AT1R signaling ameliorates histopathological alterations in model of Type 2 cardio-renal syndrome. Kidney sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin. Typical histopathological images in the Vehicle (A, C) and OLM (B, D) groups were shown. Scale bar, 50 μ m. The arrows show infiltration of mononuclear cells (A) and increase in mesangial matrix (C).



Figure 19. Blockade of AT1R signaling ameliorates histopathological alterations in model of Type 2 cardio-renal syndrome. Kidney sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin. The severity of infiltration of mononuclear cells was microscopically semi-quantified and the summarized data is shown. In each group, the specimens from 6 animals were evaluated.



Figure 20. Heart rate in model of Type 2 cardio-renal syndrome. Rats with MI+NX were assigned to 2 groups: Vehicle group (0.5% methylcellulose, P.O.) and OLM group (olmesartan medoxiomil, 5 mg/kg/day, p.o.). The administration started at 2 weeks after the MI surgery. Week 0 indicates the time of starting administration. The heart rate (HR) was measured by the tail-cuff method at 12 weeks after starting administration. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 5 to 6 in each group. NS: not significant in comparison with Vehicle group.



Figure 21. Systolic blood pressure in model of Type 2 cardio-renal syndrome. Rats with MI+NX were assigned to 2 groups: Vehicle group (0.5% methylcellulose, P.O.) and OLM group (olmesartan medoxiomil, 5 mg/kg/day, p.o.). The administration started at 2 weeks after the MI surgery. Week 0 indicates the time of starting administration. Systolic blood pressure (SBP) was measured by the tail-cuff method at 12 weeks after starting administration. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 5 to 6 in each group. NS: not significant in comparison with Vehicle group.



week of administration period

Figure 22. Effect of a mineralocorticoid receptor blocker on proteinuria in model of Type 2 cardio-renal syndrome. Rats with MI+NX were assigned to 2 groups: Control group (normal diet) and SPL groups (0.05 % spironolactone-mixed diet). The administration started at 2 weeks after the MI surgery. Week 0 indicates the time of starting administration. Urinary protein excretion per day is expressed at the indicated time points. The values are shown as mean \pm SE; n = 6 to 10 in each group. **P*<0.05 compared with Control group.

Chapter II:

Spironolactone, but not eplerenone, impairs glucose tolerance in a rat model of metabolic syndrome

(1) Introduction

Aldosterone, a physiological ligand of the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR), is classically known to regulate electrolyte homeostasis (79), and blood pressure. In addition, several basic and clinical studies have indicated that aldosterone is directly involved in tissue damage in the vasculature such as heart and kidney, through enhancement of oxidative stress, inflammation, and fibrosis.

Much attention has recently been focused on the relation between aldosterone and impairment of glucose metabolism (80). Glucose intolerance and diabetic mellitus are often detected in patients with primary aldosteronism (81) due to adrenal adenoma or hyperplasia (82). The impairment of glucose metabolism is known to be involved in the pathobiology in the metabolic syndrome that comprises of a cluster of several abnormalities, including obesity, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and hypertension. Elevated plasma aldosterone levels are detected in metabolic syndrome (83), and moreover, experimental studies have produced a body of evidence for the involvement of aldosterone in the pathogenesis of certain

55

components of metabolic syndrome, such as adipocyte dysfunction (84, 85) and insulin resistance (80).

Apart from the considerably beneficial effects of MR blockade on metabolic syndrome through improvement of glucose intolerance as well as suppression of blood pressure, no clinical trials have focused on preventing further metabolic deterioration and its complications. Spironolactone (SPL) and eplerenone (EPL), both of which are MR antagonists currently used in a clinical setting, are widely recognized to be beneficial for patients with hypertension and heart failure (21-23). However, the two drugs are known to have distinct pharmacological/pharmacokinetic profiles; EPL shows greater MR selectivity and has non-genomic properties, and SPL has active metabolites (28). Regarding the effect on glucose metabolism, EPL has been demonstrated to improve insulin sensitivity in obese model mice (84, 86). On the other hand, treatment with SPL has been reported to increase the blood glucose levels in patients with resistant hypertension, which is defined as blood pressure that remains above the goal despite concurrent use of three antihypertensive agents of different classes (87). Also, Yamaji et al. have shown that SPL increases HbA1c in patients with mild chronic heart failure. These data indicate that the results of experimental studies have not supported the clinical findings in terms of the effects of MR antagonists on blood glucose level.

I considered that further investigations would be necessary to compare the effect of SPL with that of EPL on blood glucose levels in animal

56

models. In the present study, therefore, I examined the effect of SPL on blood glucose levels in SHR/NDmcr⁻cp(cp/cp) (ND) rats, an animal model of metabolic syndrome (known to spontaneously develop hypertension, obesity, and hyperlipidemia), in comparison with that of EPL, another MR antagonist.

(2) Materials and Methods

(i) Experimental materials

SPL was purchased from Shanghai FWD Chemicals Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China). EPL was extracted from Selara[®] tablets (purchased from Pfizer Japan Inc., Tokyo, Japan). 0.5% (w/v) methylcellulose (MC) solution was purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd. (Osaka, Japan).

(ii) Experimental protocol

All experiments were carried out in accordance with the Animal Experimentation Guidelines of Daiichi-Sankyo Co., Ltd. The rats were kept in a room at 55±5% relative humidity and 23±1°C under a 12 hr light/dark cycle, and allowed free access to diet (FR-2, Funabashi Farm Co., Ltd., Chiba, Japan) and water.

Male SHR/NDmcr⁻cp(cp/cp) rats (ND, 15 weeks of age) and WKY/Izm rats (WKY, 15 weeks of age) as non-obese controls were purchased from Japan SLC Inc. At 18 weeks of age, the rats were divided into 6 groups: ND treated with MC solution (ND-CONT, N = 6), ND treated with 30 mg/kg SPL (ND-SPL30, N = 6), ND treated with 100 mg/kg SPL (ND-SPL100, N = 6), ND treated with 100 mg/kg EPL (ND-EPL100, N = 6), WKY treated with MC solution (WKY-CONT, N = 6) and WKY treated with 100 mg/kg SPL (WKY-SPL100). I selected these doses of SPL, because 30 - 100 mg/kg of SPL showed antihypertensive effect in ND rats in our preliminary study. SPL and EPL were suspended in 0.5% (w/v) MC solution and administered at 2 ml/kg body weight by gastric gavage once a day for 3 weeks from the grouping day. I defined the grouping day as Day 1.

(iii) Measurement of urinary parameters and blood chemical parameters

The rats were placed individually in metabolic cages, and 24⁻hr urine was collected on Day 15. Urinary sodium and potassium concentrations were measured using the STAX-2 system (Techno Medica Co. Ltd., Kanagawa, Japan) and urinary sodium⁻to⁻potassium (uNa⁺/K⁺) ratios were calculated. Water intake and food intake were also measured at the time of urine collection.

Blood was collected from the jugular vein on Day 17. Serum aldosterone (DPC Aldosterone RIA Kit, Mitsubishi Chemical Medience Corporation, Tokyo, Japan), corticosterone (COAT-A-COUNT® RAT CORTICOSTERONE, Siemens Medical Solutions Diagnostics, CA, USA) were measured by radioimmunoassay. Insulin (REBIS Insulin Kit, Shibayagi, Gunma, Japan) and adiponectin (CircuLexTM Rat Adiponectin ELISA Kit, CycLex Co., Ltd., Nagano, Japan) were measured by ELISA. Blood chemical parameters such as triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (T-Cho), high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL·C) and blood glucose, were measured using an automated biochemical serum analyzer (JCA-BM2250, JOEL Ltd., Tokyo, Japan).

59

(iv) Oral glucose tolerance test

An oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) was performed after 16 hours of fasting on Day 12. Glucose solution at 2 g/kg (OTSUKA GLUCOSE INJECTION 50%, Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) was administered by gastric gavage. Blood glucose levels were measured at 0, 30, 60, 120, 180, 240 and 360 min after glucose administration using a blood glucose meter (GLUTEST®, Sanwa Kagaku Kenkyusho Co., Ltd., Nagoya, Japan). The area under the curve (AUC) of blood glucose was calculated for each group.

(v) Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean \pm SE. Comparisons between WKY-CONT and WKY-SPL100, and also between WKY-CONT and ND-CONT were performed by Student's t-test. Statistical comparison between ND-CONT and the drug-treated ND groups, and WKY-CONT and the drug-treated ND groups, were performed by Dunnett's test. Differences were considered to be statistically significant at P<0.05.

(3) Results

(i) Increase of uNa⁺/K⁺ ratio in ND-SPL100 is similar in extent to that in ND-EPL

Once aldosterone binds to MR on renal epithelial cells, urinary Na⁺ reabsorption and K⁺ excretion occur, and therefore the uNa⁺/K⁺ ratio becomes lower (88, 89). Table 4 summarizes the uNa⁺/K⁺ ratio as well as body weight, urinary volume, food intake, and water intake in the experimental groups on Day 15. In comparison with the WKY-CONT group, the uNa⁺/K⁺ ratio sin the ND-CONT group was somewhat higher. Although the reason for this is still unclear, sodium diuresis might occur in ND rats because of their hypertensive state. In comparison with the ND-CONT group, a significantly higher uNa⁺/K⁺ ratio was observed in both the ND-SPL100 and ND-EPL100 groups, the degree of elevation being comparable, suggesting that both drugs have similar inhibitory potency on MR signaling in renal epithelia.

(ii) SPL, but not EPL, increases the blood glucose level and improves lipid profiles in ND rats

On Day 17, blood glucose and lipid parameters were measured under normal feeding conditions, and the results have been summarized in Figure 23 - 26. In comparison with WKY-CONT, the ND-CONT group showed a significantly higher blood glucose level (Figure 23). Although SPL had no effect on the blood glucose level in WKY rats, administration of SPL to ND rats dose-dependently and significantly increased the levels. In contrast, EPL had no effect on the blood glucose level (Figure 23) in ND rats. The TG level in ND rats also increased, and this increase was significantly reduced by treatment with SPL, and tended to be reduced in the ND-EPL100 group (Figure 24). In comparison with WKY rats, the T-Cho level was significantly higher and HDL-C was lower in ND rats, respectively, although the values were within the normal ranges (Figure 25 and 26). Treatment of ND rats with SPL decreased T-Cho to the level in WKY rats (Figure 25), but EPL had no significant effect on T-Cho. Neither SPL nor EPL had a significant effect on HDL-C (Figure 26). These data indicate that SPL characteristically increases blood glucose in ND rats.

(iii) SPL, but not EPL, induces impairment of glucose tolerance in ND rats Next, I performed the OGTT on Day 12. The fasting blood glucose levels (at 0 min after administration) were comparable among all experimental groups. The OGTT showed that the blood glucose concentration increased quickly, peaked at around 60 min, and then returned to the basal level within 300 min after glucose administration in each experimental group except for the ND-SPL100 group (Figure 27 and 28). On the other hand, in the ND-SPL100 group, the blood glucose level peaked at around 120 min and then gradually returned toward the original level, although the level was still higher than that at the baseline at 360 min after administration (Figure 27). The AUC value calculated from Figure 27 and 28, an index of glucose tolerance, was significantly increased by SPL in both WKY and ND rats (Figure 29). In contrast, EPL had no significant effect on the AUC value in ND rats (Figure 29). These results indicate that ND rats have impaired glucose tolerance, and that this impairment is dramatically exacerbated by administration of SPL.

(iv) SPL does not affect serum insulin or adiponectin concentration in ND rats

On Day 17, I measured serum insulin in the experimental groups. As shown in Figure 30, ND rats showed marked hyperinsulinemia, compared with that of WKY rats. Administration of neither SPL nor EPL exerted any significant effects on the serum insulin levels in ND rats (Figure 30).

The serum level of adiponectin, a reduction of which is known to cause insulin resistance (90), was also measured. The level in the ND-CONT group was higher than that in the WKY-CONT group (Figure 31). Although a slight increase was evident in the ND-SPL30 group, the adiponectin levels in both the ND-SPL100 and ND-EPL100 groups did not differ from that in the ND-CONT group (Figure 31).

 (v) SPL increases the serum aldosterone concentration and reduces the serum corticosterone concentration in ND rats

On Day 17, the serum aldosterone and corticosterone concentrations were

also measured. The level of aldosterone in the ND-CONT group was significantly higher than that in the WKY-CONT group (Figure 32). The serum aldosterone concentration in the ND-SPL100 group was significantly increased relative to that in the ND-CONT group (Figure 32). On the other hand, EPL had no effect on the serum aldosterone level even at the same dosage as that of SPL. SPL also increased the serum aldosterone level in WKY rats, but the extent of the increase was smaller than that in ND rats (Figure 32).

The serum concentrations of corticosterone, a major functional glucocorticoid in rodents, in the experimental groups have been summarized in Figure 33. In comparison with the WKY-CONT group, the level of corticosterone in the ND-CONT group was significantly higher (Figure 33). In the ND-SPL100 group, the level was significantly lower than that in the ND-CONT group (Figure 33). On the other hand, EPL did not significantly affect the serum corticosterone level (Figure 33).

(4) Discussion

ND rats are congenic animals harboring a nonsense mutation introduced into the leptin receptor (91). ND rats are known to spontaneously develop symptoms of metabolic syndrome, including obesity, hypertension, hyperlipidemia and diabetes (92, 93), accompanied by age-related renal injury (94). In comparison with non-obese genetic control animals, aldosterone excess has also been reported in ND rats (94). These symptoms are known to be frequently observed in patients with metabolic syndrome, and therefore I considered ND rats to be an appropriate animal model of metabolic syndrome.

In the present study, administration of SPL significantly elevated the levels of blood glucose with impairment of glucose tolerance in ND rats, whereas EPL at a similar renally effective dosage did not. On the other hand, serum insulin levels in rats treated with SPL were not significantly different from those in rats treated with EPL, suggesting that SPL impaired insulin signaling. Previously, the CHARM study has indicated that treatment of patients with SPL is associated with the development of diabetes mellitus (95). Furthermore, SPL has been reported to increase blood glucose levels in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (96). Also, Yamaji et al. have shown that SPL increases the level of HbA1c in patients with chronic heart failure, whereas EPL does not (29). Taken together, these data suggest that SPL, but not EPL, increases the blood glucose level in association with glucose

65

intolerance.

There are some plausible reasons for the differences in the effects of SPL and EPL on the blood glucose level. Since MR activation by aldosterone plays a well-recognized role in insulin resistance (80), increased aldosterone levels in response to treatment with SPL would be a notable effect. If higher aldosterone levels resulted in insufficient blockade of MR, then insulin resistance would be expected to occur. Alternatively, non-specific binding of SPL and its metabolites to the sex steroid hormone (97) and glucocorticoid receptors could exacerbate insulin resistance. EPL was originally identified during the screening of SPL analogues for more selective binding to MR with minimal binding to other steroid receptors (98). Therefore, in comparison with EPL, SPL shows 100⁻ to 1000⁻fold higher binding affinity for glucocorticoid, androgen, and progesterone receptors (98). Since glucocorticoid receptor activation is widely known to increase blood glucose levels and progesterone has also been reported to contribute to insulin resistance (97, 99), and the lower selectivity of SPL to MR might be attributed to the difference. The decrease in the serum corticosterone concentration resulting from treatment with SPL, as observed in this study, may reflect a feedback mechanism between the serum glucocorticoid level and activation of its receptor.

In the present study, I found that SPL increased blood aldosterone levels, whereas EPL did not. Although the reason for this is still unclear, a difference in the resulting level of aldosterone might be explained by the

66
view of the differences in the physicochemical and pharmacokinetic properties of SPL and EPL. EPL does not produce active metabolites, whereas SPL is metabolized quickly, generating various active metabolites. Many pharmacological effects of SPL are thought to be mediated by these metabolites. Higher concentrations of canrenone, a metabolite of SPL, were observed in liver, adrenals, kidney and testis in comparison with that in plasma. Furthermore, the retention of radioactive materials was observed in the adrenals after oral administration of ¹⁴C-labeled SPL (100), indicating that active metabolites were practically distributed in the adrenal glands (100). If these active metabolites affect MR in the periphery, aldosterone release may occur as a compensated action. Further studies are required to clarify the mechanisms underlying the differential actions of MR antagonists on the blood level of aldosterone.

The increased blood glucose levels resulting from treatment with SPL in ND rats in our present study contrasted with results obtained from mice with high-energy diet-induced obesity (101), in which SPL reduced blood glucose levels and improved glucose tolerance. However, the two models are quite different in that mice with high-energy diet-induced obesity do not have an increased serum aldosterone level, whereas the serum aldosterone level in our present model rats was four times higher than in the control WKY rats, reflecting the results that have been obtained in humans. Moreover, methods used for oral administration of SPL differed between the two studies. In the mouse study, SPL was administered by a subcutaneously

implanted drug release tablet, whereas in our study the drug was administered orally by gastric gavage, thus resembling the clinical situation.

MR blockade not only lowers blood pressure but also ameliorates cardiac morbidity and mortality in patients with heart failure (21-23). Furthermore, accumulated evidence indicates that MR antagonists reduce albuminuria in patients with chronic kidney disease or diabetic nephropathy (102, 103). These results suggest that the treatment of metabolic syndrome with MR antagonists would have various beneficial effects, reducing the complications and risks of cardiovascular disease. However, our present findings indicate that SPL has the potential to increase the blood glucose level associated with glucose intolerance in metabolic syndrome. Although the influence of blood glucose elevation by SPL on clinical outcome remains unclear, SPL has been reported to increase blood glucose levels in humans with type 2 diabetes and to impair endothelial function due to failure of glycemic control (96). In terms of hyperglycemia, EPL is considered to have a superior profile. However, administration of EPL is contraindicated in diabetic patients with albuminuria, because of the risk of hyperkalemia. Recently, some novel non-steroidal MR antagonists with minimized unfavorable effects have been reported (104-106). These new classes of MR antagonist should be novel therapeutic options for patients with metabolic syndrome.

Conclusion

SPL and EPL exert differential effects on the blood glucose profile in ND rats. Although further studies are necessary to clarify the influence of blood glucose elevation by SPL on clinical outcome, our data suggest that hyperglycemia should be taken into account when prescribing SPL.

	WK (1	Y-C(ONT 6)	WKY-SPL100 (n = 6)			
Body weight (g)	418	±	4	420	±	3	
Urinary volume (g)	12.2	±	1.5	18.0	±	2.6	
uNa+/K+ ratio	0.55	±	0.01	0.80	±	0.08 ª	
Food intake (g/24h)	24.5	±	1.3	20.3	±	1.8	
Water intake (g/24h)	35.9	±	0.8	41.2	±	3.3	

Table 4. Body weight, urinary parameters, food and water intake in WKY rats on Day 15

	ND-CONT			ND-SPL30			ND-SPL100			ND-EPL		
	((n =	6)	(n = 6)		(n = 6)			(n = 6)			
Body weight (g)	550	±	5 ^b	529	±	10 c	509	±	7 °	548	±	5 °
Urinary volume (g)	26.9	±	2.0 ^b	27.9	±	3.9 °	28.1	±	5.6 °	32.0	±	4.0 c
uNa ⁺ /K ⁺ ratio	0.65	±	0.03 ^b	0.78	±	0.08 c	0.88	±	0.08 c, d	0.92	±	0.03 ^{c, d}
Food intake (g/24h)	26.3	±	2.6	25.2	±	0.9	20.9	±	1.0 ^{c, d}	26.1	±	0.7
Water intake (g/24h)	37.9	±	2.9	40.6	±	3.2	42.0	±	5.4	43.6	±	2.7

uNa⁺/K⁺ ratio: urinary sodium-to-potassium ratio. Data are expressed as mean ± SE.

- a: P < 0.05 in comparison between WKY-CONT and WKY-SPL100 by t-test.
- b: P<0.05 in comparison between WKY-CONT and ND-CONT by t-test.
- c: P < 0.05 vs. WKY-CONT by Dunnett's test.

d: P < 0.05 vs. ND-CONT by Dunnett's test.



Figure 23. Blood glucose level on Day 17

SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND or WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 17, blood was collected from the jugular vein and the blood glucose was measured. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. **, P < 0.01 compared with ND-CONT. ^{††}, P < 0.01 compared with WKY-CONT. NS, not significant.





SPL improves lipid parameters, but increases blood glucose in ND rats. SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND or WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 17, blood was collected from the jugular vein and the triglyceride was measured. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. *, P < 0.05 compared with ND-CONT. ^{††}, P < 0.01compared with WKY-CONT. NS, not significant.



Figure 25. Blood total cholesterol level on Day 17

SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND or WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 17, blood was collected from the jugular vein and the total cholesterol was measured. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. **, P < 0.01 compared with ND-CONT. †, P < 0.05 compared with WKY-CONT. NS, not significant.



Figure 26. Blood high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level on Day 17 SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND or WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 17, blood was collected from the jugular vein and the HDL-cholesterol was measured. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. †, P < 0.05 compared with WKY-CONT. NS, not significant.



Time after glucose administration (min)

Figure 27. Oral glucose tolerance test in ND rats on Day 12

SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 12, the rats were fasted for 16 hours and then glucose solution was administered at 2 g/kg by gastric gavage. Blood glucose in each group of ND rats was measured before dosing (0), and at 30, 60, 120, 180, 240, and 360 min after oral administration of glucose solution, The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. **, P <0.01 compared with ND-CONT.



Time after glucose administration (min)

Figure 28. Oral glucose tolerance test in WKY rats on Day 12

SPL or vehicle was administered orally to WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 12, the rats were fasted for 16 hours and then glucose solution was administered at 2 g/kg by gastric gavage. Blood glucose in each group of WKY rats was measured before dosing (0), and at 30, 60, 120, 180, 240, and 360 min after oral administration of glucose solution, The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. #, P < 0.05 for comparison between WKY-CONT and WKY-SPL100.





The AUC of blood glucose was calculated. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. **, P < 0.01 compared with ND-CONT. ^{††}, P < 0.01 compared with WKY-CONT.



Figure 30. Serum insulin level on Day 17

SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND or WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 17, serum insulin was measured by ELISA. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. ^{††}, P<0.01 compared with WKY-CONT. NS, not significant.



Figure 31. Serum adiponectin level on Day 17

SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND or WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 17, serum adiponectin was measured by ELISA. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. *, P < 0.05 compared with ND-CONT. ^{††}, P < 0.01 compared with WKY-CONT. NS, not significant.



Figure 32. Serum aldosterone level on Day 17

SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND or WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 17, serum aldosterone concentrations were measured by RIA. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. **, P < 0.01 compared with ND-CONT. ^{††}, P < 0.01compared with WKY-CONT. NS, not significant.



Figure 33. Serum corticosterone level on Day 17

SPL, EPL or vehicle was administered orally to ND or WKY rats once a day during the experimental period. On Day 17, serum corticosterone concentrations were measured by RIA. The values are given as mean \pm SE. n = 6 for each group. *, P < 0.05 compared with ND-CONT. †, P < 0.05compared with WKY-CONT. NS, not significant.

Further discussion

CRS is a novel concept to understand the crosstalk between heart disease and kidney disease (1), however, there actually remains some challenges in diagnosis and treatment of each CRS due to lack of good biomarkers. For example, in acute type of CRS, such as Type 1 and Type 3, there remains large difficulty in early diagnose of acute kidney injury (AKI). The diagnosis of AKI usually hinges on serial analyses of blood urea nitrogen and creatinine concentrations, but these are relatively insensitive indices of the glomerular function and are late onset markers. Cystatin C, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, kidney injury molecule 1, and some cytokines etc., have been proposed as novel biomarkers. In addition, Sonoda et al. has reported that urinary exosomal aquaporin⁻¹, a water channel protein, could be a novel biomarker of AKI (52).

The lack of established animal model is another reason for the limitation of CRS researches, however, in Chapter I, I concluded that the rat model combined myocardial infarction with unilateral nephrectomy, might be a useful animal model of type 2 CRS. In this model, cardiac dysfunction accelerated progressive renal injury, and blockade of Ang II signal using ARB reduced this renal injury independently of both blood pressure and cardiac function. It is well known that inflammation is associated with various types of renal injury, and the mononuclear cells infiltrating into renal interstitium, I could not yet identify the exact type of cell, strongly expressed AT1R, in this

CRS model. Therefore, I speculate that the cells might have a critical role in renal injury.

In clinical, worsening renal function in the context of heart failure is associated with adverse outcomes and prolonged hospitalization (107), although there is very limited understanding of the pathophysiology of renal dysfunction induced by cardiac dysfunction. According to my research results in the CRS model, blockade of the RAS is considered to be a promising strategy for renal protection in patients with heart failure. To establish the adequate strategies of diagnosis and treatment of CRS, it is necessary to drive further studies of CRS both in animal and clinical.

The metabolic syndrome is a growing health concern due to its high risk of CVDs. A growing body of evidence suggests that not only Ang II but also aldosterone are contributed to both the high risk of CVDs and the pathogenesis of the components of metabolic syndrome, such as hypertension, insulin resistance and obesity (83). Therefore, MR blockade can be expected to be a therapeutic option for the treatment of metabolic syndrome. Contrary to the expectation, in Chapter II, I concluded that SPL potentially induced further insulin resistance in metabolic syndrome rats, which was associated with excess elevation of aldosterone, although EPL at a similar effective dosage on urinary electrolytes did not. In terms of hyperglycemia, EPL is considered to have a superior profile compared with SPL.

There are some further speculations for underlying mechanisms of SPL-induced blood glucose elevation. It is well-established that blockers of

the RAAS prompt upstream activation, and MR blockers increase not only aldosterone, but also plasma renin activity and Ang II, which is another risk factor of insulin resistance (11). In my study, the marked increase in aldosterone concentration by SPL was detected, therefore, compensatory increase of Ang II should also happen simultaneously. Recently, Garg et al. have reported that low-salt diet increases insulin resistance in healthy subject, which is possibly associated with RAAS activation (108). Therefore, an excessive compensatory activation of RAAS could be a cause of glucose intolerance in SPL-treated rats.

Interestingly, SPL-induced glucose elevation was not detected in non-obese control rats. Not only systemic but also the local renin-angiotensin-system (RAS) in adipose tissue is closely related with the complications in obesity (109). Adipose tissue expresses all the components of RAS, and locally produced Ang II may impair the adipose tissue insulin sensitivity via both autocrine and paracrine mechanisms. Importantly, this adipose RAS is positively regulated by Ang II (110). It is possible that compensatory activated systemic RAAS by SPL could upregulate the adipose RAS followed by insulin resistance in adipose tissue. In fact, neither blood glucose elevation nor marked increase of aldosterone was detected in the non-obese control animal. The accumulated adipose tissue in obese rats could accelerate SPL-induced glucose intolerance via adipose RAS activation.

As shown in Chapter II, the drugs even in the same class each have individual features (potency, specificity, pharmacokinetics, toxicology, etc.)

and these differences can lead to distinct pharmacological and toxicological profiles. Therefore, it is important to know the profiles of each agent in detail for adequate medication.

Although many drugs are available in clinical, the patients with hypertension, diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, and obesity, have remained largely unchanged and in some cases have even been increasing. For development of novel and appropriate therapeutic strategies for each patient, it is important to know in detail about both the pathophysiology of each disease and the features of each drug. I hope that the results of my research would provide more opportunities to find novel pharmaceutical targets and therapeutic strategies for the medication of CVDs.

Conclusion

The rats with combined uninephrectomy and myocardial infarction could be a good animal model of Type 2 CRS, and cardiac dysfunction could accelerate progressive renal injury through activation of RAS in these rats. Moreover, the blockade of Ang II signal using ARB would be a good therapeutic or preventive strategy of Type 2 CRS.

In addition, SPL, but not EPL, potentially impaired glucose tolerance in an animal model of metabolic syndrome, in association with a higher blood level of aldosterone.

References:

1. Ronco C, Haapio M, House AA, Anavekar N, and Bellomo R. Cardiorenal syndrome. JAm Coll Cardiol 52: 1527-1539, 2008.

2. Bock JS and Gottlieb SS. Cardiorenal syndrome: new perspectives. *Circulation* 121: 2592-2600, 2010.

3. Weir MR and Dzau VJ. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system: a specific target for hypertension management. *Am J Hypertens* 12: 205S-213S, 1999.

4. Montecucco F, Pende A, and Mach F. The renin-angiotensin system modulates inflammatory processes in atherosclerosis: evidence from basic research and clinical studies. *Mediators Inflamm* 2009: 752406, 2009.

5. Hoogwerf BJ. Renin-angiotensin system blockade and cardiovascular and renal protection. *Am J Cardiol* 105: 30A-35A, 2010.

6. Jones ES, Vinh A, McCarthy CA, Gaspari TA, and Widdop RE. AT2 receptors: functional relevance in cardiovascular disease. *Pharmacol Ther* 120: 292-316, 2008.

7. Carey RM. Cardiovascular and renal regulation by the angiotensin type 2 receptor: the AT2 receptor comes of age. *Hypertension* 45: 840-844, 2005.

8. Fiebeler A and Luft FC. The mineralocorticoid receptor and oxidative stress. *Heart Fail Rev* 10: 47-52, 2005.

9. Gilbert KC and Brown NJ. Aldosterone and inflammation. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* 17: 199-204, 2010.

10. Young MJ. Mechanisms of mineralocorticoid receptor-mediated cardiac fibrosis and vascular inflammation. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* 17: 174-180, 2008.

11. Lastra-Lastra G, Sowers JR, Restrepo-Erazo K, Manrique-Acevedo C, and Lastra-Gonzalez G. Role of aldosterone and angiotensin II in insulin resistance: an update. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 71: 1-6, 2009.

12. Giacchetti G, Sechi LA, Rilli S, and Carey RM. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, glucose metabolism and diabetes. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 16: 120-126, 2005.

13. Liu Z. The renin-angiotensin system and insulin resistance. *Curr Diab Rep* 7: 34-42, 2007.

14. Manrique C, Lastra G, Gardner M, and Sowers JR. The renin angiotensin aldosterone system in hypertension: roles of insulin resistance and oxidative stress. *The Medical clinics of North America* 93: 569-582, 2009.

15. Ma TK, Kam KK, Yan BP, and Lam YY. Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system blockade for cardiovascular diseases: current status. *Br J Pharmacol* 160: 1273-1292, 2010.

16. Mizuno M, Sada T, Ikeda M, Fukuda N, Miyamoto M, Yanagisawa H, and Koike H. Pharmacology of CS-866, a novel nonpeptide angiotensin II receptor antagonist. *Eur J Pharmacol* 285: 181-188, 1995.

17. Kim-Mitsuyama S, Izumi Y, Izumiya Y, Yoshida K, Yoshiyama M, and Iwao H. Additive beneficial effects of the combination of a calcium channel blocker and an angiotensin blocker on a hypertensive rat-heart failure model. *Hypertension research : official journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension* 27: 771-779, 2004.

18. Yuan Z, Nimata M, Okabe TA, Shioji K, Hasegawa K, Kita T, and Kishimoto C. Olmesartan, a novel AT1 antagonist, suppresses cytotoxic myocardial injury in autoimmune heart failure. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 289: H1147-1152, 2005.

19. Mizuno M, Sada T, Kato M, and Koike H. Renoprotective effects of blockade of angiotensin II AT1 receptors in an animal model of type 2 diabetes. *Hypertension research : official journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension* 25: 271-278, 2002.

20. Kato M, Sada T, Chuma H, Mizuno M, Terashima H, Fukushima Y, and Koike H. Severity of hyperlipidemia does not affect antiatherosclerotic effect of an angiotensin II receptor antagonist in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 47: 764-769, 2006.

21. Pitt B, Remme W, Zannad F, Neaton J, Martinez F, Roniker B, Bittman R, Hurley S, Kleiman J, and Gatlin M. Eplerenone, a selective aldosterone blocker, in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 348: 1309-1321, 2003.

22. Pitt B, Zannad F, Remme WJ, Cody R, Castaigne A, Perez A, Palensky J, and Wittes J. The effect of spironolactone on morbidity and mortality in patients with severe heart failure. Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study Investigators. *N Engl J Med* 341: 709-717, 1999.

23. Zannad F, McMurray JJ, Krum H, van Veldhuisen DJ, Swedberg K, Shi H, Vincent J, Pocock SJ, and Pitt B. Eplerenone in patients with systolic heart failure and mild symptoms. *N Engl J Med* 364: 11-21, 2011.

24. Cha DR, Kang YS, Han SY, Jee YH, Han KH, Kim HK, Han JY, and Kim YS. Role of aldosterone in diabetic nephropathy. *Nephrology* 10 Suppl: S37-39, 2005.

25. Han KH, Kang YS, Han SY, Jee YH, Lee MH, Han JY, Kim HK, Kim YS, and Cha DR. Spironolactone ameliorates renal injury and connective tissue growth factor expression in type II diabetic rats. *Kidney Int* 70: 111-120, 2006.

26. Han SY, Kim CH, Kim HS, Jee YH, Song HK, Lee MH, Han KH, Kim HK, Kang YS, Han JY, Kim YS, and Cha DR. Spironolactone prevents diabetic nephropathy through an anti-inflammatory mechanism in type 2 diabetic rats. *JAm Soc Nephrol* 17: 1362-1372, 2006.

27. Sato A, Hayashi K, and Saruta T. Antiproteinuric effects of mineralocorticoid receptor blockade in patients with chronic renal disease. *Am J Hypertens* 18: 44-49, 2005.

28. Struthers A, Krum H, and Williams GH. A comparison of the aldosterone-blocking agents eplerenone and spironolactone. *Clin Cardiol* 31: 153-158, 2008.

29. Yamaji M, Tsutamoto T, Kawahara C, Nishiyama K, Yamamoto T,

Fujii M, and Horie M. Effect of eplerenone versus spironolactone on cortisol and hemoglobin A(c) levels in patients with chronic heart failure. Am Heart J 160: 915-921, 2010.

30. Mann JF, Gerstein HC, Pogue J, Bosch J, and Yusuf S. Renal insufficiency as a predictor of cardiovascular outcomes and the impact of ramipril: the HOPE randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* 134: 629-636, 2001.

31. Hillege HL, Janssen WM, Bak AA, Diercks GF, Grobbee DE, Crijns HJ, Van Gilst WH, De Zeeuw D, and De Jong PE. Microalbuminuria is common, also in a nondiabetic, nonhypertensive population, and an independent indicator of cardiovascular risk factors and cardiovascular morbidity. *J Intern Med* 249: 519-526, 2001.

32. Henry RM, Kostense PJ, Bos G, Dekker JM, Nijpels G, Heine RJ, Bouter LM, and Stehouwer CD. Mild renal insufficiency is associated with increased cardiovascular mortality: The Hoorn Study. *Kidney Int* 62: 1402-1407, 2002.

33. Hillege HL, Fidler V, Diercks GF, van Gilst WH, de Zeeuw D, van Veldhuisen DJ, Gans RO, Janssen WM, Grobbee DE, and de Jong PE. Urinary albumin excretion predicts cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality in general population. *Circulation* 106: 1777-1782, 2002.

34. Hillege HL, van Gilst WH, van Veldhuisen DJ, Navis G, Grobbee DE, de Graeff PA, and de Zeeuw D. Accelerated decline and prognostic impact of renal function after myocardial infarction and the benefits of ACE inhibition: the CATS randomized trial. *Eur Heart J* 24: 412-420, 2003.

35. Anavekar NS, McMurray JJ, Velazquez EJ, Solomon SD, Kober L, Rouleau JL, White HD, Nordlander R, Maggioni A, Dickstein K, Zelenkofske S, Leimberger JD, Califf RM, and Pfeffer MA. Relation between renal dysfunction and cardiovascular outcomes after myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 351: 1285-1295, 2004.

36. van Dokkum RP, Eijkelkamp WB, Kluppel AC, Henning RH, van Goor H, Citgez M, Windt WA, van Veldhuisen DJ, de Graeff PA, and de

Zeeuw D. Myocardial infarction enhances progressive renal damage in an experimental model for cardio-renal interaction. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 15: 3103-3110, 2004.

37. Eijkelkamp WB, de Graeff PA, van Veldhuisen DJ, van Dokkum RP, Gansevoort RT, de Jong PE, de Zeeuw D, and Hillege HL. Effect of first myocardial ischemic event on renal function. *Am J Cardiol* 100: 7-12, 2007.

38. Bagshaw SM, Cruz DN, Aspromonte N, Daliento L, Ronco F, Sheinfeld G, Anker SD, Anand I, Bellomo R, Berl T, Bobek I, Davenport A, Haapio M, Hillege H, House A, Katz N, Maisel A, Mankad S, McCullough P, Mebazaa A, Palazzuoli A, Ponikowski P, Shaw A, Soni S, Vescovo G, Zamperetti N, Zanco P, and Ronco C. Epidemiology of cardio renal syndromes: workgroup statements from the 7th ADQI Consensus Conference. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 25: 1406-1416, 2010.

39. Ronco C, McCullough P, Anker SD, Anand I, Aspromonte N, Bagshaw SM, Bellomo R, Berl T, Bobek I, Cruz DN, Daliento L, Davenport A, Haapio M, Hillege H, House AA, Katz N, Maisel A, Mankad S, Zanco P, Mebazaa A, Palazzuoli A, Ronco F, Shaw A, Sheinfeld G, Soni S, Vescovo G, Zamperetti N, and Ponikowski P. Cardio-renal syndromes: report from the consensus conference of the acute dialysis quality initiative. *Eur Heart J* 31: 703-711, 2010.

40. Hall JE. The renin-angiotensin system: renal actions and blood pressure regulation. *Compr Ther* 17: 8-17, 1991.

41. Brewster UC, Setaro JF, and Perazella MA. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system: cardiorenal effects and implications for renal and cardiovascular disease states. *Am J Med Sci* 326: 15-24, 2003.

42. Brunner HR. Experimental and clinical evidence that angiotensin II is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease. *Am J Cardiol* 87: 3C-9C, 2001.

43. White WB. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors in the treatment of hypertension: an update. *J Clin Hypertens* 9: 876-882, 2007.

44. Ram CV. Angiotensin receptor blockers: current status and future prospects. *Am J Med* 121: 656-663, 2008.

45. Werner C, Baumhakel M, Teo KK, Schmieder R, Mann J, Unger T, Yusuf S, and Bohm M. RAS blockade with ARB and ACE inhibitors: current perspective on rationale and patient selection. *Clin Res Cardiol* 97: 418-431, 2008.

46. Schrier RW, Masoumi A, and Elhassan E. Aldosterone: role in edematous disorders, hypertension, chronic renal failure, and metabolic syndrome. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* 5: 1132-1140, 2010.

47. Brown NJ. Aldosterone and end-organ damage. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 14: 235-241, 2005.

48. Sun Y, Zhang J, Lu L, Chen SS, Quinn MT, and Weber KT. Aldosterone-induced inflammation in the rat heart : role of oxidative stress. *Am J Pathol* 161: 1773-1781, 2002.

49. **Epstein M.** Aldosterone blockade: an emerging strategy for abrogating progressive renal disease. *Am J Med* 119: 912-919, 2006.

50. Windt WA, Eijkelkamp WB, Henning RH, Kluppel AC, de Graeff PA, Hillege HL, Schafer S, de Zeeuw D, and van Dokkum RP. Renal damage after myocardial infarction is prevented by renin-angiotensin-aldosterone-system intervention. JAm Soc Nephrol 17: 3059-3066, 2006.

51. Isoyama S, Grossman W, and Wei JY. Effect of age on myocardial adaptation to volume overload in the rat. *J Clin Invest* 81: 1850-1857, 1988.

52. Sonoda H, Yokota Ikeda N, Oshikawa S, Kanno Y, Yoshinaga K, Uchida K, Ueda Y, Kimiya K, Uezono S, Ueda A, Ito K, and Ikeda M. Decreased abundance of urinary exosomal aquaporin-1 in renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 297: F1006-1016, 2009.

53. Dragun D, Tullius SG, Park JK, Maasch C, Lukitsch I, Lippoldt A, Gross V, Luft FC, and Haller H. ICAM-1 antisense oligodesoxynucleotides prevent reperfusion injury and enhance immediate graft function in renal

transplantation. Kidney Int 54: 590-602, 1998.

54. Zeisberg M and Neilson EG. Mechanisms of tubulointerstitial fibrosis. JAm Soc Nephrol 21: 1819-1834, 2010.

55. Kim S, Sada T, Mizuno M, Ikeda M, Yano M, Miura K, Yamanaka S, Koike H, and Iwao H. Effects of angiotensin AT1 receptor antagonist on volume overload-induced cardiac gene expression in rats. *Hypertens Res* 20: 133-142, 1997.

56. Schunkert H, Tang SS, Litwin SE, Diamant D, Riegger G, Dzau VJ, and Ingelfinger JR. Regulation of intrarenal and circulating renin-angiotensin systems in severe heart failure in the rat. *Cardiovasc Res* 27: 731-735, 1993.

57. Keeton TK, Pettinger WA, and Campbell WB. The effects of altered sodium balance and adrenergic blockade on renin release induced in rats by angiotensin antagonism. *Circ Res* 38: 531-539, 1976.

58. Kato A, Hishida A, Tanaka I, and Komatsu K. Uninephrectomy prevents the ischemia-induced increase in renin activity. *Nephron* 75: 72-76, 1997.

59. Crowley SD, Song YS, Sprung G, Griffiths R, Sparks M, Yan M, Burchette JL, Howell DN, Lin EE, Okeiyi B, Stegbauer J, Yang Y, Tharaux PL, and Ruiz P. A role for angiotensin II type 1 receptors on bone marrow-derived cells in the pathogenesis of angiotensin II-dependent hypertension. *Hypertension* 55: 99-108, 2010.

60. Jurewicz M, McDermott DH, Sechler JM, Tinckam K, Takakura A, Carpenter CB, Milford E, and Abdi R. Human T and natural killer cells possess a functional renin-angiotensin system: further mechanisms of angiotensin II-induced inflammation. *JAm Soc Nephrol* 18: 1093-1102, 2007.

61. Nishida M, Fujinaka H, Matsusaka T, Price J, Kon V, Fogo AB, Davidson JM, Linton MF, Fazio S, Homma T, Yoshida H, and Ichikawa I. Absence of angiotensin II type 1 receptor in bone marrow-derived cells is detrimental in the evolution of renal fibrosis. *J Clin Invest* 110: 1859-1868,

2002.

62. Rodriguez-Iturbe B, Pons H, Herrera-Acosta J, and Johnson RJ. Role of immunocompetent cells in nonimmune renal diseases. *Kidney Int* 59: 1626-1640, 2001.

63. Rodriguez-Iturbe B, Vaziri ND, Herrera-Acosta J, and Johnson RJ. Oxidative stress, renal infiltration of immune cells, and salt-sensitive hypertension: all for one and one for all. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 286: F606-616, 2004.

64. Shao J, Nangaku M, Miyata T, Inagi R, Yamada K, Kurokawa K, and Fujita T. Imbalance of T-cell subsets in angiotensin II-infused hypertensive rats with kidney injury. *Hypertension* 42: 31-38, 2003.

65. Vaziri ND, Bai Y, Ni Z, Quiroz Y, Pandian R, and Rodriguez-Iturbe B. Intra-renal angiotensin II/AT1 receptor, oxidative stress, inflammation, and progressive injury in renal mass reduction. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 323: 85-93, 2007.

66. Sandmann S, Li J, Fritzenkotter C, Spormann J, Tiede K, Fischer JW, and Unger T. Differential effects of olmesartan and ramipril on inflammatory response after myocardial infarction in rats. *Blood Press* 15: 116-128, 2006.

67. Goncalves AR, Fujihara CK, Mattar AL, Malheiros DM, Noronha Ide L, de Nucci G, and Zatz R. Renal expression of COX-2, ANG II, and AT1 receptor in remnant kidney: strong renoprotection by therapy with losartan and a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 286: F945-954, 2004.

68. Graciano ML, Cavaglieri Rde C, Delle H, Dominguez WV, Casarini DE, Malheiros DM, and Noronha IL. Intrarenal Renin-Angiotensin system is upregulated in experimental model of progressive renal disease induced by chronic inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 15: 1805-1815, 2004.

69. Bahiense-Oliveira M, Mattar AL, Malheiros DM, and Woronik V.

Interstitial expression of angiotensin II and AT1 receptor are increased in patients with progressive glomerulopathies. *J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst* 11: 158-164, 2010.

70. Nangaku M. Chronic hypoxia and tubulointerstitial injury: a final common pathway to end-stage renal failure. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 17: 17-25, 2006.

71. Miyata N, Park F, Li XF, and Cowley AW, Jr. Distribution of angiotensin AT1 and AT2 receptor subtypes in the rat kidney. *The American journal of physiology* 277: F437-446, 1999.

72. Muller DN, Shagdarsuren E, Park JK, Dechend R, Mervaala E, Hampich F, Fiebeler A, Ju X, Finckenberg P, Theuer J, Viedt C, Kreuzer J, Heidecke H, Haller H, Zenke M, and Luft FC. Immunosuppressive treatment protects against angiotensin II-induced renal damage. *Am J Pathol* 161: 1679-1693, 2002.

73. Crowley SD, Song YS, Lin EE, Griffiths R, Kim HS, and Ruiz P. Lymphocyte responses exacerbate angiotensin II-dependent hypertension. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 298: R1089-1097, 2010.

74. Guzik TJ, Hoch NE, Brown KA, McCann LA, Rahman A, Dikalov S, Goronzy J, Weyand C, and Harrison DG. Role of the T cell in the genesis of angiotensin II induced hypertension and vascular dysfunction. *J Exp Med* 204: 2449-2460, 2007.

75. Anders HJ and Ryu M. Renal microenvironments and macrophage phenotypes determine progression or resolution of renal inflammation and fibrosis. *Kidney Int* 80: 915-925, 2011.

76. Naito T, Ma LJ, Yang H, Zuo Y, Tang Y, Han JY, Kon V, and Fogo AB. Angiotensin type 2 receptor actions contribute to angiotensin type 1 receptor blocker effects on kidney fibrosis. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 298: F683-691, 2010.

77. Cao Z, Bonnet F, Candido R, Nesteroff SP, Burns WC, Kawachi H, Shimizu F, Carey RM, De Gasparo M, and Cooper ME. Angiotensin type 2

receptor antagonism confers renal protection in a rat model of progressive renal injury. *JAm Soc Nephrol* 13: 1773-1787, 2002.

78. Garg AX, Prasad GV, Thiessen-Philbrook HR, Ping L, Melo M, Gibney EM, Knoll G, Karpinski M, Parikh CR, Gill J, Storsley L, Vlasschaert M, and Mamdani M. Cardiovascular disease and hypertension risk in living kidney donors: an analysis of health administrative data in Ontario, Canada. *Transplantation* 86: 399-406, 2008.

79. Fuller PJ, Lim-Tio SS, and Brennan FE. Specificity in mineralocorticoid versus glucocorticoid action. *Kidney Int* 57: 1256-1264, 2000.

80. Corry DB and Tuck ML. The effect of aldosterone on glucose metabolism. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 5: 106-109, 2003.

81. Fallo F, Veglio F, Bertello C, Sonino N, Della Mea P, Ermani M, Rabbia F, Federspil G, and Mulatero P. Prevalence and characteristics of the metabolic syndrome in primary aldosteronism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 91: 454-459, 2006.

82. Auchus RJ and Nwariaku FE. Primary aldosteronism. *Curr Cardiol Rep* 9: 447-452, 2007.

83. Briet M and Schiffrin EL. The role of aldosterone in the metabolic syndrome. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 13: 163-172, 2011.

84. Guo C, Ricchiuti V, Lian BQ, Yao TM, Coutinho P, Romero JR, Li J, Williams GH, and Adler GK. Mineralocorticoid receptor blockade reverses obesity-related changes in expression of adiponectin, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma, and proinflammatory adipokines. *Circulation* 117: 2253-2261, 2008.

85. Caprio M, Antelmi A, Chetrite G, Muscat A, Mammi C, Marzolla V, Fabbri A, Zennaro MC, and Feve B. Antiadipogenic effects of the mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist drospirenone: potential implications for the treatment of metabolic syndrome. *Endocrinology* 152: 113-125, 2011.

86. Hirata A, Maeda N, Hiuge A, Hibuse T, Fujita K, Okada T, Kihara S,

Funahashi T, and Shimomura I. Blockade of mineralocorticoid receptor reverses adipocyte dysfunction and insulin resistance in obese mice. *Cardiovasc Res* 84: 164-172, 2009.

87. Chapman N, Dobson J, Wilson S, Dahlof B, Sever PS, Wedel H, and Poulter NR. Effect of spironolactone on blood pressure in subjects with resistant hypertension. *Hypertension* 49: 839-845, 2007.

88. Levine D, Ramsay L, Auty R, Branch R, and Tidd M. Antagonism of endogenous mineralocorticoids in normal subjects by prorenoate potassium and spironolactone. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 09: 381-386, 1976.

89. Ramsay LE, Hessian P, and Tidd MJ. Bioassay of aldosterone antagonists in normal human subjects: a relationship between the level of plasma uric acid before treatment and apparent drug responses. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2: 271-276, 1975.

90. Pajvani UB and Scherer PE. Adiponectin: systemic contributor to insulin sensitivity. *Curr Diab Rep* 3: 207-213, 2003.

91. Takaya K, Ogawa Y, Hiraoka J, Hosoda K, Yamori Y, Nakao K, and Koletsky RJ. Nonsense mutation of leptin receptor in the obese spontaneously hypertensive Koletsky rat. *Nat Genet* 14: 130-131, 1996.

92. Bhathena SJ, Kennedy BW, Jones J, Smith PM, Michaelis OEt, Carswell N, Hansen CT, Voyles NR, and Recant L. Effect of dietary carbohydrates on insulin and glucagon receptors in a new model of noninsulin-dependent diabetes-SHR/N-corpulent rat. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 192: 66-71, 1989.

93. Michaelis OEt, Ellwood KC, Judge JM, Schoene NW, and Hansen CT. Effect of dietary sucrose on the SHR/N-corpulent rat: a new model for insulin-independent diabetes. *Am J Clin Nutr* 39: 612-618, 1984.

94. Nagase M, Yoshida S, Shibata S, Nagase T, Gotoda T, Ando K, and Fujita T. Enhanced aldosterone signaling in the early nephropathy of rats with metabolic syndrome: possible contribution of fat-derived factors. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 17: 3438-3446, 2006. 95. Preiss D, Zetterstrand S, McMurray JJ, Ostergren J, Michelson EL, Granger CB, Yusuf S, Swedberg K, Pfeffer MA, Gerstein HC, and Sattar N. Predictors of development of diabetes in patients with chronic heart failure in the Candesartan in Heart Failure Assessment of Reduction in Mortality and Morbidity (CHARM) program. *Diabetes Care* 32: 915-920, 2009.

96. Davies JI, Band M, Morris A, and Struthers AD. Spironolactone impairs endothelial function and heart rate variability in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 47: 1687-1694, 2004.

97. Livingstone C and Collison M. Sex steroids and insulin resistance. *Clin Sci* 102: 151-166, 2002.

98. Delyani JA, Rocha R, Cook CS, Tobert DS, Levin S, Roniker B, Workman DL, Sing YL, and Whelihan B. Eplerenone: a selective aldosterone receptor antagonist (SARA). *Cardiovasc Drug Rev* 19: 185-200, 2001.

99. Wada T, Hori S, Sugiyama M, Fujisawa E, Nakano T, Tsuneki H, Nagira K, Saito S, and Sasaoka T. Progesterone inhibits glucose uptake by affecting diverse steps of insulin signaling in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 298: E881-888, 2010.

100. Karim A. Spironolactone: disposition, metabolism, pharmacodynamics, and bioavailability. *Drug Metab Rev* 8: 151-188, 1978.

101. Wada T, Kenmochi H, Miyashita Y, Sasaki M, Ojima M, Sasahara M, Koya D, Tsuneki H, and Sasaoka T. Spironolactone improves glucose and lipid metabolism by ameliorating hepatic steatosis and inflammation and suppressing enhanced gluconeogenesis induced by high-fat and high-fructose diet. *Endocrinology* 151: 2040-2049, 2010b.

102. Bertocchio JP, Warnock DG, and Jaisser F. Mineralocorticoid receptor activation and blockade: an emerging paradigm in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* 79: 1051-1060, 2011.

103. Mehdi UF, Adams-Huet B, Raskin P, Vega GL, and Toto RD. Addition of angiotensin receptor blockade or mineralocorticoid antagonism to maximal angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in diabetic nephropathy.

JAm Soc Nephrol 20: 2641-2650, 2009.

104. Dietz JD, Du S, Bolten CW, Payne MA, Xia C, Blinn JR, Funder JW, and Hu X. A number of marketed dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers have mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist activity. *Hypertension* 51: 742-748, 2008.

Meyers MJ, Arhancet GB, Hockerman SL, Chen X, Long SA, 105. Mahoney MW, Rico JR, Garland DJ, Blinn JR, Collins JT, Yang S, Huang HC, McGee KF, Wendling JM, Dietz JD, Payne MA, Homer BL, Heron MI, Reitz DB, and Hu X. Discovery of (3S,3aR)-2-(3-chloro-4-cyanophenyl)-3-cyclopentyl-3,3a,4,5-tetrahydro-2H-b enzo[g]indazole-7-carboxylic acid (PF-3882845), orally efficacious an for (MR)mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist hypertension and nephropathy. J Med Chem 53: 5979-6002, 2010.

106. Nariai T, Fujita K, Mori M, Katayama S, Hori S, and Matsui K. SM-368229, a novel selective and potent non-steroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist with strong urinary Na+ excretion activity. *J Pharmacol Sci* 115: 346-353, 2011.

107. McCullough PA. Contrast-induced acute kidney injury. J Am Coll Cardiol 51: 1419-1428, 2008.

108. Garg R, Williams GH, Hurwitz S, Brown NJ, Hopkins PN, and Adler GK. Low-salt diet increases insulin resistance in healthy subjects. *Metabolism* 60: 965-968, 2011.

109. Yvan-Charvet L and Quignard-Boulange A. Role of adipose tissue renin-angiotensin system in metabolic and inflammatory diseases associated with obesity. *Kidney Int* 79: 162-168, 2011.

110. Lu H, Boustany-Kari CM, Daugherty A, and Cassis LA. Angiotensin
II increases adipose angiotensinogen expression. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 292: E1280-1287, 2007.

Summary

Introduction:

Although a number of drugs have been developed and are available for treatment to improve various risk factors of cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), the prevalence of risk factors of CVDs including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, and obesity, has remained largely unchanged and in some cases has even been increasing. For development of appropriate therapeutic strategies for each patient, it is important to know in detail about both the pathophysiology of each disease and the features of each drug.

The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) is well-known as a major risk factor of CVDs, and blockade of RAAS is attractive therapeutic strategy. Four classes of RAAS blockers, direct renin inhibitor, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R) blocker (ARB), and mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) blocker, are currently available in clinical setting as antihypertensive/cardiorenal protective agents. I focused on the ARB and MR blocker, and the pharmacological effects on various disease models were evaluated to know about the pathophysiology of each disease and the features of each drug.

Chapter I:

Importance of renal angiotensin II type 1 receptor activation in progressive renal injury of a rat model for chronic cardiorenal syndrome

A number of reports have demonstrated a closed linkage between cardiac dysfunction and renal dysfunction. This interaction termed the cardio-renal syndrome (CRS) is a recent, well-recognized definition in clinical. CRS is categorized into five types (Type 1 · 5) according to the pathophysiology, time-frame, and nature of the concomitant cardiac and renal dysfunction. To clarify the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying each subtype will help to understand the clinical derangement and provide the rationale for management strategies for the patients with cardiac or renal dysfunction. However, established animal models for CRS are very limited. Therefore, to elucidate the detail of the mechanism of CRS, I created the rat model combining myocardial infarction (MI) with unilateral nephrectomy (NX), and examined several cardiac, renal and neurohumoral parameters in the rats.

Proteinuria, a biomarker of renal injury, gradually increased in the NX and MI+NX groups, the level being markedly higher in the latter. In contrast, the MI group did not exhibit proteinuria. A marked decrease in cardiac function was observed in both the MI and MI+NX groups, however, both cardiac parameters and MI size were not different between the two groups. In the histological analysis, urinary cast formation, infiltration of mononuclear cells, an increase in the mesangial matrix, adhesion of Bowman's capsule, interstitial fibrosis, and glomerulosclerosis were evident in the MI+NX group. On the other hand, these changes in the NX group were moderate, and were not observed in the MI group. These data clearly indicated that our MI+NX model was characterized by progressive kidney

injury without enhancement of cardiac injury, which is defined as Type 2 CRS.

The renal gene expression of interleukin-16, an inflammatory cytokine, and transforming growth factor β 1, a profibrogenic cytokine, were significantly up-regulated in the MI+NX group. Plasma renin activity was lower only in the MI+NX, on the other hand, the gene expression of AT1R in the kidney was higher only in the MI+NX group. In the immunohistochemical analysis, up regulation of AT1R was observed in the renal cortex in the MI+NX group. Higher magnification revealed that most of the AT1R positive cells in the interstitium were infiltrating mononuclear cells, and this staining pattern was quite consistent across the specimens. Also, increased AT1R protein was seen in the outer medulla in the MI+NX group. These results suggest that cardiac dysfunction accelerates renal injury, which is associated with inflammation and fibrosis via AT1R signal. Finally, I examined the effect of olmesartan (OLM), an ARB, and spironolactone (SPL), a MR antagonist. Although SPL showed no effect on urinary protein, OLM significantly suppressed proteinuria as well as the histological alterations resulting from the combined surgery without any effects on hear rate, blood pressure, and the cardiac function. These data clearly indicate that ARB reduced proteinuria was mediated by direct inhibition of renal AT1R signaling.
Chapter II:

Spironolactone, but not eplerenone, impairs glucose tolerance in a rat model of metabolic syndrome

A number of reports have demonstrated the relation between aldosterone and impairment of glucose metabolism. Spironolactone (SPL) and eplerenone (EPL), both of which are MR antagonists currently used in a clinical setting, are widely recognized to be beneficial for patients with hypertension and heart failure. However, the two drugs are known to have distinct pharmacological/pharmacokinetic profiles. Regarding the effect on glucose metabolism, it has been reported that SPL, but not EPL, increased HbA1c in patients with mild chronic heart failure, although the detailed mechanism remains unknown. In the present study, therefore, I examined the effect of SPL on blood glucose levels in SHR/NDmcr⁻cp(cp/cp) (ND) rats, an animal model of metabolic syndrome, in comparison with that of EPL.

Although SPL had no effect on the blood glucose level in non-obese control rats, administration of SPL to ND rats dose-dependently and significantly increased this. In contrast, EPL, at the dose which exerts the same efficacy on urinary electrolyte, had no effect on the blood glucose level. In the oral glucose tolerance test, SPL dramatically impaired glucose tolerance. Neither SPL nor EPL exerted significant effects on the serum insulin levels in ND rats. The serum level of adiponectin, a reduction of which is known to cause insulin resistance, was not altered by SPL. The serum aldosterone concentration was significantly increased. On the other hand, EPL had no effect on the serum aldosterone level. These results suggest that the excess compensatory activation of RAAS by SPL induces insulin resistance.

Acknowledgements

本研究の遂行に際し、終始ご指導、ご支援いただきました主指導教官の宮崎大 学農学部獣医薬理学講座 池田正浩教授に深く感謝いたします。また、副指導教 官として研究指導していただきました同講座 伊藤勝昭教授、鹿児島大学農学部 獣医学科基礎獣医学講座薬理分野 宮本篤教授、免疫染色実験においてお力添え いただきました同講座 園田紘子 助教、その他ご協力、激励をしていただきま した獣医薬理学講座の皆様、第一三共株式会社の皆様に厚くお礼申し上げます。